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Cal Bus & Prof Code § 6106 (2012) 
 
§ 6106.  Commission of act of moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption  
 

The commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or corruption, whether the act is committed in the 
course of his relations as an attorney or otherwise, and whether the act is a felony or misdemeanor or not, constitutes a 
cause for disbarment or suspension. 

If the act constitutes a felony or misdemeanor, conviction thereof in a criminal proceeding is not a condition 
precedent to disbarment or suspension from practice therefor. 
 
HISTORY:  

Added Stats 1939 ch 34 § 1. 
 
NOTES:  
 
Historical Derivation:  

Former CCP § 287, as enacted 1872, amended Code Amdts 1873-74 ch 383 § 27, Code Amdts 1880 ch 35 § 1, 
Stats 1911 ch 422 § 1. 
  
 
 
Cross References: 

Conviction of crime involving moral turpitude as cause for disbarment or suspension: B & P C § 6101. 
  
 
 
Collateral References: 

Cal. Forms Pleading & Practice (Matthew Bender(R)) ch 70 "Attorney Admission". 

Cal. Legal Forms, (Matthew Bender(R)) §§ 1A.31, 86A.01. 
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Cal Jur 3d (Rev) Attorneys at Law §§ 190, 193, 211, 212, 214, 231. 

Am Jur 2d (Rev) Attorneys at Law §§ 23, 43, 51, 67, 68. 

Matthew Bender(R) Practice Guide: California E-Discovery and Evidence, 3.06. 

Matthew Bender(R) Practice Guide: California E-Discovery and Evidence, 13.08. 
  
 
 
Forms: 

See form set out below, following Notes of Decisions. 
  
 
 
Law Review Articles: 

Acting as fiduciary in California. 8 Cal Law No. 9 p 80. 

Attorney ethics: When bugging is illegal in California. 9 Cal Lawyer No. 9 p 76. 

Disbarment for moral turpitude. 24 Cal LR 9. 

A case against automatic disbarment. 13 Hast Const LQ 415. 

Automatic disbarment: a convicted felon's just desserts. 13 Hast Const LQ 433. 

Lawyer discipline and professional standards in California; professional incompetence as a disciplinable offense. 24 
Hast LJ 692. 

Failure to file tax returns, and professional discipline of attorneys. 49 LA Bar B 328. 

Judicial interpretation of moral turpitude. 4 SCLR 152. 

Discipline for adverse representation and confidential disclosures when attorney reveals former client's fraud. 6 
Stan LR 373. 

Ethics Opinion No. 520: Duty to Inform Adverse Party Regarding Erroneous Settlement Payment. 30 LA Law 43 
(September, 2007). 
 
Annotations: 
 
1. In General 

Misconduct in capacity as judge as basis for disciplinary action against attorney. 57 ALR3d 1150. 

Use in disbarment proceeding of testimony given by attorney in criminal proceeding under grant of immunity. 62 
ALR3d 1145. 

Mental or emotional disturbance as defense to or mitigation of charges against attorney in disciplinary proceeding. 
26 ALR4th 995. 
  
 
 
2. Conviction; Necessity and Effect 

Federal income tax conviction as involving moral turpitude warranting disciplinary action against attorney. 63 
ALR3d 476. 
  
 
 
3. Misconduct as Attorney 
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Drawing will or deed under which he figures as grantee, legatee, or devisee as ground of disciplinary action against 
attorney. 98 ALR2d 1234. 

Release of information concerning forthcoming or pending trial as ground for contempt proceedings or other dis-
ciplinary measures against member of the bar. 11 ALR3d 1104. 

Participation in allegedly collusive or connived divorce proceedings as subjecting attorney to disciplinary action. 13 
ALR3d 1010. 

Disciplinary proceeding based upon attorney's direct or indirect purchase of client's property. 35 ALR3d 674. 

Fabrication or suppression of evidence as ground of disciplinary action against attorney. 40 ALR3d 169. 

Disciplinary proceedings based upon attorney's naming of himself or associate as executor or attorney for executor 
in will drafted by him. 57 ALR3d 703. 

Modern status of law regarding solicitation of business by or for attorney. 5 ALR4th 866. 

Attorney's charging excessive fee as ground for disciplinary action. 11 ALR4th 133. 

Advertising as ground for disciplining attorney. 30 ALR4th 742. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in matters involving 
formation or dissolution of business organization as ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 63 ALR4th 656. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in matters involving 
real-estate transactions as ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 65 ALR4th 24. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in tax matters as 
ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 66 ALR4th 314. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in estate or probate 
matters as ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 66 ALR4th 342. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in family law matters 
as ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 67 ALR4th 415. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in personal injury or 
property damage actions as ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 68 ALR4th 694. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in criminal matters as 
ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 69 ALR4th 410. 

Negligence, inattention, or professional incompetence of attorney in handling client's affairs in bankruptcy matters 
as ground for disciplinary action--modern cases. 70 ALR4th 786. 
  
 
 
4. Nonprofessional Misconduct 

Federal income tax conviction as constituting nonprofessional misconduct warranting disciplinary action against 
attorney. 63 ALR3d 512. 

Attorney's verbal abuse of another attorney as basis for disciplinary action. 87 ALR3d 351. 

Attorneys at law: fee collection practice as ground for disciplinary action. 91 ALR3d 583. 

Attorney's failure to report promptly receipt of money or property belonging to client as ground for disciplinary ac-
tion. 91 ALR3d 975. 

Conduct of attorney in connection with settlement of client's case as ground for disciplinary action. 92 ALR3d 288. 

Conduct of attorney in capacity of executor or administrator of decedent's estate as ground for disciplinary action. 
92 ALR3d 655. 

Disciplinary action against attorney based on misconduct prior to admission to bar. 92 ALR3d 807. 



Page 4 
Cal Bus & Prof Code § 6106  

Disciplinary action against attorney for misconduct related to performance of official duties as prosecuting attor-
ney. 10 ALR4th 605. 

Attorney's charging excessive fee as ground for disciplinary action. 11 ALR4th 133. 

Election campaign activities as ground for disciplining attorney. 26 ALR4th 170. 

Sexual misconduct as ground for disciplining attorney or judge. 43 ALR4th 1062. 

Misconduct involving intoxication as ground for disciplinary action against attorney. 1 ALR5th 874. 
 

Hierarchy Notes: 

  Div. 3, Ch. 4, Art. 6 Note  
 
LexisNexis 50 State Surveys, Legislation & Regulations 

   Attorney Service Advertising 
 
 
NOTES OF DECISIONS 1. Generally 2. Moral Turpitude Generally 3. Fraud and Deception as Elements of Moral Tur-
pitude 4. Particular Acts Involving Moral Turpitude, Dishonesty, or Corruption 5. Misconduct Toward Opposing 
Counsel; Misleading Opposing Counsel 6. Misconduct as Personal Representative or Trustee 7. Tax Violations 8. Mis-
conduct Toward Court - Generally 9. Misconduct Toward Court - False or Misleading Pleadings or Documents 10. 
Misconduct Toward Court - False or Perjured Testimony 11. Misconduct Toward Court - Maligning Court 12. Miscon-
duct Toward Court - Interference With Jury or Jury Selection 13. Misconduct Toward Client - Generally 14. Miscon-
duct Toward Client - Assumption or Representation of Adverse or Conflicting Interests 15. Misconduct Toward Client - 
Undue Influence 16. Misconduct Toward Client - Misappropriation of Funds 17. Misconduct Toward Client - Attor-
neys' Fees 18. Delay; Failure to Act 19. Negligence 
 
 1. Generally  

A transaction which shows an attorney to be so wanting in integrity, or involving such moral delinquency as an at-
torney, that the legal business of others cannot be safely entrusted to him is ground for disbarring him. In re Disbarment 
of Haymond (1898) 121 Cal 385, 53 P 899, 1898 Cal LEXIS 918. 

Any flagrant act of dishonesty on the part of an attorney is cause for disciplinary action against him. Bryant v. State 
Bar of California (1942) 21 Cal 2d 285, 131 P2d 523, 1942 Cal LEXIS 450. 

An attorney may not be excused from dishonest conduct because that conduct was literally dictated and instigated 
by his client. Bryant v. State Bar of California (1942) 21 Cal 2d 285, 131 P2d 523, 1942 Cal LEXIS 450. 

An attorney is not excused from dishonest practices simply because he acts in two capacities, one as an attorney 
and the other as an agency for reorganizing insolvent corporations. Petersen v. State Bar of California (1943) 21 Cal 2d 
866, 136 P2d 561, 1943 Cal LEXIS 318. 

An attorney is guilty under this section where in the face of a previous disciplinary action against him, of which he 
confessed to reading the opinion, he proceeds to commit the very same acts for which the previous discipline was im-
posed. Libarian v. State Bar of California (1944) 25 Cal 2d 314, 153 P2d 739, 1944 Cal LEXIS 319. 

It is not necessary that actual harm result to merit disciplinary action against attorney where actual deception is in-
tended and shown. Coviello v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 57, 286 P2d 357, 1955 Cal LEXIS 293. 

Attorney's inattention to duty which has been wilful or has been accompanied by element of deceit is ground for 
discipline. Call v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 104, 287 P2d 761, 1955 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Attorney's duty of honesty and fair dealing is not limited to dealings with his client. (B & P C § 6106.) Lefner v. 
State Bar of California (1966) 64 Cal 2d 189, 49 Cal Rptr 296, 410 P2d 832, 1966 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Although psychoneurotic problems may underlie an attorney's misconduct and moral turpitude on the basis of 
which a recommendation of discipline has been made, the Supreme Court's duty on review of the recommendation lies 
in the assurance that the public will be protected in the performance of the high duties of the attorney, rather than in an 
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analysis of the reasons for his delinquency. In re Plotner (1971) 5 Cal 3d 714, 97 Cal Rptr 193, 488 P2d 385, 1971 Cal 
LEXIS 281. 

Public reproval was the appropriate discipline for an attorney and former member of a county board of supervisors 
whose conviction of misuse of public funds (Pen C § 424[2]) had been affirmed by the Court of Appeal, where the 
record showed that the attorney had been punished by a fine and a six-month jail sentence with five months suspended 
provided he paid the fine and penalty assessment within specified time limits, that he had paid the fine and assessment, 
that he had been jailed for twenty days (apparently with the additional ten more days off for good behavior), that he had 
met his probation requirements, that the practice of law had been his full-time occupation following his removal from 
the board of supervisors, and that there was no evidence of other discipline by the bar. In re Battin (1980) 28 Cal 3d 
231, 168 Cal Rptr 477, 617 P2d 1109, 1980 Cal LEXIS 218. 

On review of a recommendation of the State Bar Court that an attorney be suspended from the practice of law for a 
period of one year, but that such suspension be stayed and he be placed on probation for one year on condition that he 
pass the Professional Responsibility Examination during that period, the attorney failed to carry his burden of demon-
strating the recommended discipline was too severe. His attempt to deceive an escrow agent by his falsification of a 
trust deed beneficiary statement was a dishonest act involving moral turpitude (B & P C § 6106); his wilful and direct 
communications with persons represented by counsel violated Prof Cond Rules, rules 7-103 [repealed], 7-104 [re-
pealed]; and the recommended discipline was comparable to that imposed in similar cases. Crane v. State Bar of Cali-
fornia (1981) 30 Cal 3d 117, 177 Cal Rptr 670, 635 P2d 163, 1981 Cal LEXIS 180. 

Probationary suspension from the practice of law for five years, on condition of actual suspension for the first two 
years (and other specified conditions), rather than disbarment, was the appropriate discipline of a former prosecutor who 
had altered evidence in a criminal trial, and had attempted to prevent discovery of his misconduct by discussing the al-
teration with the judge in the absence of opposing counsel, and communicating to the defendant (after conviction but 
before sentencing) an offer to seek favorable sentencing in exchange for an agreement not to appeal the conviction. 
Disbarment appeared to be prescribed by B & P C § 6131(b) (prohibiting a prosecutor from bargaining with a defendant 
for valuable consideration in exchange for assistance), and was permissible for any act involving moral turpitude (pur-
suant to findings of a violation of B & P C §§ 6106). However, the lesser discipline imposed in similar cases and miti-
gating circumstances (including no prior disciplinary record, mental and emotional stress, and a cooperative and re-
morseful attitude) led to the conclusion that protection of public and profession did not require disbarment. Price v. 
State Bar (1982) 30 Cal 3d 537, 179 Cal Rptr 914, 638 P2d 1311, 1982 Cal LEXIS 139. 

Attorney, disbarred for numerous acts of client-related misconduct under B & P C §§ 6068, 6103, and 6106, could 
not claim that the disciplinary proceedings were void because they violated the Sherman Antitrust Act, RICO, and her 
right to free speech. Lebbos v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal 3d 37, 278 Cal Rptr 845, 806 P2d 317, 1991 Cal LEXIS 1244, 
rehearing denied Lebbos v. State Bar of California (1991) 1991 Cal. LEXIS 2208, cert den (1991, US) 502 US 932, 112 
S Ct 352, 116 L Ed 2d 291, 1991 US LEXIS 6250. 

B & P C § 6106 is not unconstitutionally overbroad, nor are the terms "moral turpitude," "dishonesty," or "corrup-
tion" unconstitutionally vague. Canatella v. Stovitz (2005, ND Cal) 365 F Supp 2d 1064, 2005 US Dist LEXIS 5976, 
aff'd (2006) 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 29985. 
  
 2. Moral Turpitude Generally   

Moral turpitude on the part of an attorney comprises everything done contrary to justice, honesty, or good morals. 
Lantz v. State Bar of California (1931) 212 Cal 213, 298 P 497, 1931 Cal LEXIS 618; Jacobs v. State Bar of California 
(1933) 219 Cal 59, 25 P2d 401, 1933 Cal LEXIS 350; Herron v. State Bar of California (1944) 24 Cal 2d 53, 147 P2d 
543, 1944 Cal LEXIS 211, cert den (1944) 65 S Ct 82, 89 L Ed 603, 323 US 753, 1944 US LEXIS 286, rehearing denied 
(1944) 323 U.S. 815, 65 S. Ct. 128, 89 L. Ed. 648, 1944 U.S. LEXIS 144; Fall v. State Bar of California (1944) 25 Cal 
2d 149, 153 P2d 1, 1944 Cal LEXIS 304. 

Misconduct in reference to one's duties and obligations as an attorney, conduct contrary to justice, honesty, modes-
ty or good morals, constitutes moral turpitude. Dudney v. State Bar of California (1931) 214 Cal 238, 4 P2d 770, 1931 
Cal LEXIS 423. 

A crime in which intent to defraud is an essential element is a crime involving moral turpitude. In re Hallinan 
(1954) 43 Cal 2d 243, 272 P2d 768, 1954 Cal LEXIS 244. 
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Term "moral turpitude" includes fraud and means dishonesty and conduct not in accordance with good morals; be-
ing based on moral guilt, it implies intentional breach of duty owed to client as distinguished from unintended failure on 
part of attorney to discharge his duties to best of his ability. Call v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 104, 287 
P2d 761, 1955 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Criminal acts involving intentional dishonesty for purpose of personal gain involve moral turpitude. In re Hallinan 
(1957) 48 Cal 2d 52, 307 P2d 1, 1957 Cal LEXIS 164. 

"Moral turpitude," as used in this section, is broadly defined as conduct which is contrary to justice, honesty and 
good morals. Arden v. State Bar (1959) 52 Cal 2d 310, 341 P2d 6, 1959 Cal LEXIS 205; Marlowe v. State Bar of Cali-
fornia (1965) 63 Cal 2d 304, 46 Cal Rptr 326, 405 P2d 150, 1965 Cal LEXIS 186. 

The commission of an act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty or corruption constitutes a cause for an attorney's 
suspension from practice; moral turpitude, broadly defined, is conduct which is contrary to justice, honesty, and good 
morals. Calzada v. Sinclair (1970, Cal App 2d Dist) 6 Cal App 3d 903, 86 Cal Rptr 387, 1970 Cal App LEXIS 1395. 

In determining whether a specific crime or act committed by an attorney constitutes moral turpitude, the Supreme 
Court is bound to resolve all doubts in favor of the attorney. In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 493 
P2d 97, 1972 Cal LEXIS 150. 

The moral turpitude standard, as related to an attorney's conduct, was established, not to impose punishment on 
members of the profession, but to ensure that the public, courts, and profession are protected against unsuitable legal 
practitioners. In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 493 P2d 97, 1972 Cal LEXIS 150; In re Fahey (1973) 
8 Cal 3d 842, 106 Cal Rptr 313, 505 P2d 1369, 1973 Cal LEXIS 264, 63 ALR3d 465. 

To hold that an attorney's act constitutes moral turpitude is to characterize him as unsuitable to practice law. In re 
Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 493 P2d 97, 1972 Cal LEXIS 150. 

Conviction of those crimes which may or may not involve moral turpitude is not ground for discipline of an attor-
ney without additional proof of circumstances surrounding the offense. In re Fahey (1973) 8 Cal 3d 842, 106 Cal Rptr 
313, 505 P2d 1369, 1973 Cal LEXIS 264, 63 ALR3d 465. 

The "moral turpitude" standard governing the discipline of attorneys depends not on popular impressions, but on 
the alleged violator's own motivation as it relates to his moral fitness to practice law. In re Fahey (1973) 8 Cal 3d 842, 
106 Cal Rptr 313, 505 P2d 1369, 1973 Cal LEXIS 264, 63 ALR3d 465. 

On review of a recommendation of disbarment of an attorney for conviction of a crime involving moral turpitude, 
the fact that a jury acquitted the attorney of the charge of burglary and convicted him of the lesser and included offense 
of unauthorized entry was not conclusive. In examining the circumstances giving rise to an offense, the Supreme Court 
is not restricted to examining the elements of the crime, but rather may look at the whole course of conduct which re-
flected upon the attorney's fitness to practice law. In re Hurwitz (1976) 17 Cal 3d 562, 131 Cal Rptr 402, 551 P2d 1234, 
1976 Cal LEXIS 307. 

Gross carelessness and negligence constitute a violation of the oath of an attorney to discharge faithfully the duties 
of an attorney to the best of his knowledge and ability and involve moral turpitude, in that they are a breach of the fidu-
ciary relation which binds him to the most conscientious fidelity to his clients' interests. Sanchez v. The State Bar (1976) 
18 Cal 3d 280, 133 Cal Rptr 768, 555 P2d 889, 1976 Cal LEXIS 352. 

Violations of B & P C § 6106 (attorney's acts of moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption), are within the scope of 
Proc Rules, div V, Stds for Atty Sanctions for Prof Misconduct, std 2.3 (actual suspension or disbarment for acts of 
moral turpitude, fraud, dishonesty, or concealment, depending upon harm to client, magnitude of offense, and relation to 
practice). Conroy v. State Bar of California (1991) 53 Cal 3d 495, 280 Cal Rptr 100, 808 P2d 243, 1991 Cal LEXIS 
1432. 
  
 3. Fraud and Deception as Elements of Moral Turpitude  

Moral turpitude cannot be predicated upon errors of judgment as to the law, or action had and taken in good faith 
by an attorney, openly and with notice to the adverse party under an honest assertion of legal right, where there is no 
deception or unfair advantage sought. In re Kling (1919, Cal App) 44 Cal App 267, 186 P 152, 1919 Cal App LEXIS 
444. 
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Before representations may be classified as moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption, within the meaning of this 
section, they must be made with an intent to mislead. Wallis v. State Bar of California (1942) 21 Cal 2d 322, 131 P2d 
531, 1942 Cal LEXIS 453. 

There is no moral distinction between defrauding individual and defrauding government, and attorney who is con-
victed of either offense must be disciplined, since his conviction would necessarily involve moral turpitude. In re Hal-
linan (1957) 48 Cal 2d 52, 307 P2d 1, 1957 Cal LEXIS 164. 

Acts of fraud and deceit involve reprehensible conduct for an attorney and moral turpitude. Lee v. State Bar of Cal-
ifornia (1970) 2 Cal 3d 927, 88 Cal Rptr 361, 472 P2d 449, 1970 Cal LEXIS 318. 

Moral turpitude includes fraud and intentional dishonesty for personal gain, and it makes no difference whether an 
attorney acts in a representative capacity for someone else or for himself if he commits acts involving moral turpitude, 
dishonesty or corruption. Lee v. State Bar of California (1970) 2 Cal 3d 927, 88 Cal Rptr 361, 472 P2d 449, 1970 Cal 
LEXIS 318. 

Fraud is but one, even if a principal, facet of moral turpitude. In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 
493 P2d 97, 1972 Cal LEXIS 150. 

Gross carelessness and negligence constitute a violation of the oath of an attorney to discharge faithfully the duties 
of an attorney to the best of his knowledge and ability and involve moral turpitude, in that they are a breach of the fidu-
ciary relation which binds him to the most conscientious fidelity to his clients' interest. Sanchez v. The State Bar (1976) 
18 Cal 3d 280, 133 Cal Rptr 768, 555 P2d 889, 1976 Cal LEXIS 352. 
  
 4. Particular Acts Involving Moral Turpitude, Dishonesty, or Corruption   

An attorney who, almost immediately following a former order of suspension for unlawful and unprofessional ad-
vertising, sent out hundreds of postcards to attorneys advertising to procure Mexican divorces, demonstrated his com-
plete unfitness to continue as a member of the bar. Mayer v. State Bar of California (1934) 2 Cal 2d 71, 39 P2d 206, 
1934 Cal LEXIS 465. 

An attorney who, at the instance of a client, communicated with an oil company and sought to settle a fictitious and 
fabricated case, and made several misrepresentations as the basis and facts of his so-called client's claim, with an intent 
to extort money from the company, was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Barton v. State Bar of California 
(1935) 2 Cal 2d 294, 40 P2d 502, 1935 Cal LEXIS 328. 

An attorney was properly suspended under this statute, where he repaid a loan, secured to bail him out of jail for 
drunken driving, with a check on a bank in which he had no funds, and where he ignored two prior citations from the 
local administrative committee. Wood v. State Bar of California (1936) 6 Cal 2d 533, 58 P2d 1280, 1936 Cal LEXIS 
547. 

Deliberately overdrawing on a checking account, so as to enable the payees of an attorney's checks to obtain money 
from third persons, constitutes dishonesty. Hall v. State Bar of California (1938) 12 Cal 2d 462, 85 P2d 870, 1938 Cal 
LEXIS 423. 

It was proper to suspend an attorney under this section where he, representing the plaintiff in an action for civil 
conspiracy with a number of John Doe defendants, served a deputy city attorney as John Doe, and then, notwithstanding 
the filing of a demurrer, filed a purported amendment stating the attorney's true name in a self-signed judgment against 
the defendants, where later, after notice of the sustaining of a demurrer to his complaint, he requested entry of default of 
the defendants in their individual capacities, and where, pending proceedings on motion to set aside the default and to 
dismiss the action, he took steps pursuant to CCP § 710 [repealed], to recover on the self-signed judgment. Woodard v. 
State Bar of California (1940) 16 Cal 2d 755, 108 P2d 407, 1940 Cal LEXIS 355. 

Repayment of embezzled funds, especially where not undertaken until formal charges are brought against the at-
torney, does not absolve the attorney from the charge of conduct involving moral turpitude. Hennessy v. State Bar of 
California (1941) 18 Cal 2d 685, 117 P2d 326, 1941 Cal LEXIS 411. 

An attorney may be disbarred for forgery or perjury, although no one had been injured thereby. Hizar v. State Bar 
of California (1942) 20 Cal 2d 223, 124 P2d 812, 1942 Cal LEXIS 268. 
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An attorney cannot be disciplined under this section merely because his representations as to the soundness of a 
collateral offered as security for a loan were not warranted by the information he had at the time, where there was no 
intent to mislead. Wallis v. State Bar of California (1942) 21 Cal 2d 322, 131 P2d 531, 1942 Cal LEXIS 453. 

An attorney committed acts involving moral turpitude where he represented to purchasers of mortgaged property 
that a note which he surrendered upon receiving payment therefor was the one secured by the mortgage and executed 
concurrently therewith by the mortgagor, whereas the original had been lost, and the attorney had prepared a substitute 
to which with his knowledge one not the mortgagor had affixed the mortgagor's name. Allen v. State Bar of California 
(1951) 36 Cal 2d 683, 226 P2d 569, 1951 Cal LEXIS 216. 

In a disciplinary hearing before the State Bar, the evidence was sufficient to support the finding of the disciplinary 
board that the accused attorney placed a restrictive notation on the reverse of one of his personal checks after he re-
ceived it from his bank with his cancelled checks rather than at the time he delivered the check to the payee, where the 
testimony of the accused on the point was in direct conflict with that of the payee, where an expert witness who testified 
in support of the accused's version had not seen the check until after it was cancelled by the bank, and where evidence 
relating to microfilming of the check indicated that there was no notation on the check at the time it was cashed by the 
payee and that there was no evidence of any erasures or alterations. Reznik v. State Bar of California (1969) 1 Cal 3d 
198, 81 Cal Rptr 769, 460 P2d 969, 1969 Cal LEXIS 202, 40 ALR3d 161. 

An attorney's possession or use of marijuana does not constitute an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity contrary 
to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man, or indicate that he is unable to meet the 
professional and fiduciary duties of his practice. In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 493 P2d 97, 1972 
Cal LEXIS 150. 

An attorney's knowing submission of false claims to an insurance company involves an act of dishonesty and moral 
turpitude within the meaning of B & P C § 6106, making such an act a cause for disbarment or suspension. Sampson v. 
State Bar of California (1974) 12 Cal 3d 70, 115 Cal Rptr 43, 524 P2d 139, 1974 Cal LEXIS 210. 

Suspension from the practice of law, rather than disbarment, as recommended by the State Bar Disciplinary Board, 
or public reproval as recommended by the local administrative committee, was the appropriate discipline for an attorney 
found to have participated in making bribes in connection with obtaining a zoning change and thereafter to have en-
gaged in other dishonest conduct in an attempt to thwart investigation of the bribes. Though there was no question that 
the attorney knowingly and actively participated in the second of two bribes and in a scheme to thwart the investigation 
with the subjective knowledge that he was then engaging in criminal conduct, and that he made full disclosure to the 
authorities only after the investigation had reached those implicated with him, the record showed that the misconduct 
was "out of character," and that there were mitigating factors, including the attorney's lack of prior disciplinary record, 
long delays in the disciplinary process, and particularly the attorney's recognition of his wrongdoing and the persuasive 
recommendations of those who had associated with him since his misdeeds. Toll v. State Bar of California (1974) 12 
Cal 3d 824, 117 Cal Rptr 427, 528 P2d 35, 1974 Cal LEXIS 265. 

The purpose of a disciplinary proceeding against an attorney is to determine, not the extent of the damage caused 
by him, but whether his conduct was unprofessional; for example, actual injury or loss is not a prerequisite to discipline 
for fraudulent or deceitful acts (B & P C §§ 6106, 6128). Thus, where an attorney, in disciplinary proceedings against 
him, admitted the intent to deceive (and the resulting deception of) a bank officer in obtaining an intrabank transfer of 
funds held in the name of a deceased person, the claim that no harm was done did not constitute a valid defense. Allen v. 
The State Bar (1977) 20 Cal 3d 172, 141 Cal Rptr 808, 570 P2d 1226, 1977 Cal LEXIS 185. 

In a proceeding for discipline of an attorney, substantial evidence supported the finding of the State Bar Court that 
the attorney's conduct in deleting language in a statement obtained from the beneficiary of a trust deed on real property 
and forwarding it to an escrow company handling a sale of the property without notifying that company that the dele-
tions were made by him and were wholly unauthorized was wilful, improper, and a dishonest act under B & P C § 6106. 
Despite the attorney's assertion that he had no intent to deceive the escrow company, but merely sought to prevent the 
beneficiary from improperly interfering with the prospective sale by asserting demands which it had no right to make in 
the beneficiary statement, the means used by the attorney to further his position were dishonest, involved moral turpi-
tude within the meaning of B & P C § 6106, and warranted discipline. Crane v. State Bar of California (1981) 30 Cal 
3d 117, 177 Cal Rptr 670, 635 P2d 163, 1981 Cal LEXIS 180. 

Attorney was placed on probation and temporarily suspended from the practice of law where the evidence showed 
that he willfully failed and refused to communicate with his client regarding a dispute over a mobile home for which he 
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was retained, knowingly misrepresented the status of the case to his client and the state bar, willfully failed and refused 
to perform all of the services for which he had been retained, and willfully failed to use reasonable diligence to accom-
plish with reasonable speed the purpose for which he had been employed. Wren v. State Bar (1983) 34 Cal 3d 81, 192 
Cal Rptr 743, 665 P2d 515, 1983 Cal LEXIS 203. 

An attorney violated B & P C § 6106 (commission of an act involving moral turpitude), and B & P C § 6068(d), 
(failing to employ "such means only as are consistent with truth" ), and Prof Cond Rules, former rule 7-105(1), by ans-
wering interrogatories directed to his client himself and attaching one of the client's presigned verifications, when the 
attorney could not locate the client. The use of a presigned verification in discovery proceedings, without first consult-
ing with the client to assure that any assertions of fact are true, is a clear and serious violation of the rules and CCP § 
2030 [repealed]. Drociak v. State Bar (1991) 52 Cal 3d 1085, 278 Cal Rptr 86, 804 P2d 711, 1991 Cal LEXIS 563. 
  
 5. Misconduct Toward Opposing Counsel; Misleading Opposing Counsel  

The failure of an attorney to keep his word pledged to a brother attorney not to sue until the other attorney returned 
to town, whereby the clients of the latter were put to heavy expense and loss, was dishonest. Bryant v. State Bar of Cal-
ifornia (1942) 21 Cal 2d 285, 131 P2d 523, 1942 Cal LEXIS 450. 

An offer to bribe the deputy district attorney made by an attorney, acting through his wife, was an act of moral tur-
pitude, whether or not there was any intention to carry out said offer. Werner v. State Bar (1944) 24 Cal 2d 611, 150 
P2d 892, 1944 Cal LEXIS 262. 

An attorney was guilty of dishonesty and deception where, in the settlement of an action in which he was counsel 
for plaintiff, he led counsel for defendants to believe that the plaintiff had personally signed the settlement papers, and 
obtained an acknowledgment of the signature in an improper manner, even though he was authorized under a power of 
attorney to do so, himself. Hallinan v. State Bar of California (1948) 33 Cal 2d 246, 200 P2d 787, 1948 Cal LEXIS 309. 

The crime of extortion involves moral turpitude, and an attorney who writes a letter to another attorney threatening 
to file a criminal complaint for perjury against the latter's client unless he pay a certain amount of money indicates an 
attempt to commit extortion in violation of Pen C § 523, and is in violation of the writer's oath and duties as an attorney, 
warranting his suspension from the practice of law for a period of six months. Libarian v. State Bar of California (1952) 
38 Cal 2d 328, 239 P2d 865, 1952 Cal LEXIS 176. 

Discipline may be imposed on attorneys for misleading opposing counsel as to signatures on document, such con-
duct falling short of honesty and integrity required of attorney at law in performance of his professional duties. Coviello 
v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 57, 286 P2d 357, 1955 Cal LEXIS 293. 

Intentionally deceiving opposing counsel, as by making him believe that cash had been received and was being held 
in escrow by accused attorney's law firm, is ground for disciplinary action. Monroe v. State Bar of California (1961) 55 
Cal 2d 145, 10 Cal Rptr 257, 358 P2d 529, 1961 Cal LEXIS 195. 

Disbarment was appropriate discipline for an attorney, where he had fraudulently transformed an assignment of 
contract form into a confession of judgment and knowingly offered it as genuine, and had filed false involuntary bank-
ruptcy petitions, for the purpose of harassment and delay, where he advised clients to make their deposition testimony 
unavailable, despite court orders, where he had made an unwarranted charge of bias and prejudice against all the supe-
rior court judges in a county and had prepared a declaration for a client containing offensive descriptions of opposing 
parties and counsel, where he had communicated with a judge in the absence of opposing counsel, concerning the merits 
of a contested action, and had given deliberately evasive deposition testimony and failed to answer proper questions, 
and where, though his asserted defense that his mental and emotional state was such that he was unable to use his inde-
pendent judgment and was under the influence of one of his clients, possibly explained his actions, it neither justified 
them nor exonerated him from bearing the responsibility for his professional misconduct. Snyder v. The State Bar 
(1976) 18 Cal 3d 286, 133 Cal Rptr 864, 555 P2d 1104, 1976 Cal LEXIS 353. 
  
 6. Misconduct as Personal Representative or Trustee  

An attorney who uses the funds of a certain estate of which he is the executor for his own purposes, and by unfor-
tunate and unforeseen developments is prevented from repaying the money at the time of distribution of the estate, is 
nevertheless guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Shafer v. State Bar of California (1932) 215 Cal 706, 12 P2d 
957, 1932 Cal LEXIS 475. 
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The fact that an attorney acted in escrow-holder capacity in committing unlawful acts did not absolve him from the 
disciplinary process of the State Bar Act. Jacobs v. State Bar of California (1933) 219 Cal 59, 25 P2d 401, 1933 Cal 
LEXIS 350. 

An attorney who while acting as an escrow-holder unlawfully returned part of moneys held by him in the escrow 
transaction, after said moneys had been garnisheed in his hands, and made a false return to the attachment, and appro-
priated a part of said moneys, was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Jacobs v. State Bar of California (1933) 
219 Cal 59, 25 P2d 401, 1933 Cal LEXIS 350. 

While acting as trustee of an express trust, an attorney who used the trust funds to purchase his own interest in a 
contract of sale of real property, without informing the beneficiary of his interest therein, and who failed and neglected 
to give her any documentary evidence of the transaction or to convey the property until she recovered a judgment 
against him requiring such a conveyance, violated this statute. Lyders v. State Bar of California (1938) 12 Cal 2d 261, 
83 P2d 500, 1938 Cal LEXIS 393. 

An attorney, who had been appointed administrator of an estate, upon nomination of an aged widow, and then had 
himself appointed trustee of the property of the widow and invested the funds of the trust in the purchase of a home for 
himself, giving insufficient security in the form of a belated mortgage on the home, which he was long delayed in re-
cording, which acts were deliberate and carefully thought out to enrich himself at the expense of the widow, violated 
this statute. Stanford v. State Bar of California (1940) 15 Cal 2d 721, 104 P2d 635, 1940 Cal LEXIS 266. 

An attorney will be publicly reprimanded by the Supreme Court rather than suspended from the practice of law 
where, although he should not, without proper safeguards, have permitted his personal interests to have become en-
meshed with those of an elderly widow over whose person and estate he was appointed guardian, a review of the evi-
dence shows that he was not guilty of moral turpitude and that the net result of his acts has been to benefit, not to preju-
dice, the widow. Fleming v. State Bar of California (1952) 38 Cal 2d 341, 239 P2d 866, 1952 Cal LEXIS 178. 

When an attorney assumes a fiduciary relationship and violates his duty in a manner that would justify disciplinary 
action if the relationship had been that of attorney and client, he may properly be disciplined for his misconduct. Clark 
v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247; Crooks v. State Bar of California 
(1970) 3 Cal 3d 346, 90 Cal Rptr 600, 475 P2d 872, 1970 Cal LEXIS 214. 

Fact that an attorney and an incompetent person occupied the relationship of guardian and ward, and not that of at-
torney and client, does not preclude disciplinary action against the attorney for mishandling the assets of the incompe-
tent person's estate. Clark v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Notwithstanding evidence showing that an attorney as guardian sold his ward's property for cash and failed to de-
posit money in the guardianship account, the Supreme Court, in view of seriousness of the charge and the lack of direct 
evidence of commingling, accepted as true the attorney's testimony that he placed the money in his safe in a large 
envelope marked "Bigelow Estate." Clark v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 
247. 

An attorney was not guilty of misconduct in making withdrawals from a ward's estate as guardian fees without 
prior court approval where, at the time such withdrawals were made, a guardianship fee could be claimed as an item of 
an account and paid as such without the formality of a petition to the superior court and a special order or decree, sub-
ject to the condition that the amount of such withdrawal found by the court to be excessive must be returned to the es-
tate. Clark v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Attorney's claim of good faith in "borrowing" money entrusted to him as escrow agent was not credible where his 
conduct after taking money was evasive and deceitful, culminating in statement to another attorney and to party to es-
crow that he knew he wrongfully used money for his own purposes, that he would make restitution if no complaint were 
filed, and that parties would get nothing on filing of complaint because he would lose his license. Yapp v. State Bar of 
California (1965) 62 Cal 2d 809, 44 Cal Rptr 593, 402 P2d 361, 1965 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Where attorney's personal use of escrow funds entrusted to him frustrated purpose of escrow for some time and 
many persons suffered delay in receiving their money, though no one suffered money loss, it cannot be said that attor-
ney was authorized to withdraw funds by written agreement of one of three parties to escrow or that attorney acted in 
good faith. Yapp v. State Bar of California (1965) 62 Cal 2d 809, 44 Cal Rptr 593, 402 P2d 361, 1965 Cal LEXIS 299. 
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When attorney receives money for third party who is not his client, attorney is fiduciary as to third party, funds in 
attorney's possession are impressed with trust, and his conversion of funds is breach of trust. Johnstone v. State Bar of 
California (1966) 64 Cal 2d 153, 49 Cal Rptr 97, 410 P2d 617, 1966 Cal LEXIS 243. 

Attorney's wilful violation of trust constituted act involving moral turpitude and dishonesty under B & P C § 6106, 
even in absence of attorney-client relation, where he had agreed with insurer to share proceeds of amount recovered on 
personal injury claim in exchange for insurer's release and discharge of its lien on amount recovered, but after obtaining 
endorsement by his client and insurer on draft given to settle claim and depositing draft proceeds in trust account, he 
gave to insurer check that was dishonored for lack of sufficient funds in trust account. Johnstone v. State Bar of Cali-
fornia (1966) 64 Cal 2d 153, 49 Cal Rptr 97, 410 P2d 617, 1966 Cal LEXIS 243. 

A judgment obtained against an attorney for funds deposited with him as escrow holder did not release the attorney 
from his obligation to answer charges of wrongdoing in the handling of funds in his care, and the attorney's conversion 
of the funds, admittedly held by him in trust and to which he disclaimed any interest except for his costs and fees, after 
the court rendered judgment against him and failed to award him compensation for his fees, constituted a breach of 
trust. Crooks v. State Bar of California (1970) 3 Cal 3d 346, 90 Cal Rptr 600, 475 P2d 872, 1970 Cal LEXIS 214. 

An attorney may not unilaterally determine his own fee and withhold trust funds to satisfy it even though he may be 
entitled to reimbursement for his services. Crooks v. State Bar of California (1970) 3 Cal 3d 346, 90 Cal Rptr 600, 475 
P2d 872, 1970 Cal LEXIS 214. 

Where an attorney knew that money in his possession represented the remainder of escrow funds entrusted to him 
and that a judgment obtained against him by a depositor in the escrow included that sum, honesty required the attorney 
to deliver the money to his judgment creditor; and the attorney could not take advantage of the court's inadvertent fail-
ure to specifically order him to do so to justify his appropriation of the money to his own use; nor could his appropria-
tion be justified as payment for his escrow services and expenses. Crooks v. State Bar of California (1970) 3 Cal 3d 
346, 90 Cal Rptr 600, 475 P2d 872, 1970 Cal LEXIS 214. 
  
 7. Tax Violations  

An attorney's failure to pay the federal marijuana transfer tax, in violation of 26 USCS § 4744(a) does not involve 
moral turpitude per se, inasmuch as the statute does not require an intent to defraud, and without such intent, the viola-
tion does not involve moral turpitude. In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 493 P2d 97, 1972 Cal LEXIS 
150. 

Suspension of an attorney, rather than disbarment, was proper, notwithstanding that his conduct in connection with 
a conspiracy to smuggle marijuana involved moral turpitude, and that he had been convicted of violation of 26 USCS § 
4744(a) where, in the light of numerous mitigating factors, it appeared that the protection of the public, the courts, and 
the legal profession did not require disbarment. In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 493 P2d 97, 1972 
Cal LEXIS 150. 

The conduct of an attorney who pleaded guilty to violation of 26 USCS § 4744(a) on the Federal Government's 
agreement to dismiss charges of conspiracy to smuggle marijuana with intent to defraud, involved moral turpitude, not-
withstanding that he neither sought any gain nor expected to enjoy any benefit from his role in the scheme, where he 
failed to sever himself from the scheme when both conscience and the law so demanded, and where, in disregarding the 
legitimate interest and concern of the public that attorneys not use their legal knowledge to counsel and assist clients to 
violate the law, he demonstrated his unsuitability to be entrusted with the privileges and duties of the legal profession. 
In re Higbie (1972) 6 Cal 3d 562, 99 Cal Rptr 865, 493 P2d 97, 1972 Cal LEXIS 150. 

Moral turpitude is not necessarily involved in failure to file a tax return or in failure to pay a tax. In re Fahey (1973) 
8 Cal 3d 842, 106 Cal Rptr 313, 505 P2d 1369, 1973 Cal LEXIS 264, 63 ALR3d 465. 

An attorney's conviction under 26 USCS § 7203, of failure to file income tax returns did not require discipline, 
where the conviction did not establish moral turpitude on its face, and the record did not disclose any basis for conclud-
ing that his conduct did involve such turpitude. In re Fahey (1973) 8 Cal 3d 842, 106 Cal Rptr 313, 505 P2d 1369, 1973 
Cal LEXIS 264, 63 ALR3d 465. 

A conviction of an attorney, under 26 USCS § 7203, for wilful failure to file income tax returns did not, for purpos-
es of disciplinary proceedings, establish moral turpitude on its face, where the conviction was not based on, and did not 
require, any intent to defraud, but rested on a finding of a "bad purpose" inferred from his voluntary, deliberate failure 
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to file with knowledge that there was no reasonable justification for the failure. In re Fahey (1973) 8 Cal 3d 842, 106 
Cal Rptr 313, 505 P2d 1369, 1973 Cal LEXIS 264, 63 ALR3d 465. 
  
 8. Misconduct Toward Court - Generally  

An attorney who conspires to keep a witness from testifying at a trial violates the statute. Kilpatrick v. State Bar of 
California (1934) 220 Cal 689, 32 P2d 348, 1934 Cal LEXIS 588. 

An attorney was guilty of acts involving dishonesty where, in a proceeding for special letters of administration, he 
intentionally misled the court by making a false statement that he was the surviving husband of the decedent, and where 
he had gone through a marriage ceremony with the decedent in Texas knowing that an interlocutory divorce decree, 
obtained by his real wife in California, had not yet become final and that his signature to a certificate of registration in 
Mexico merely entitled him to commence a divorce proceeding in that country. Vickers v. State Bar of California 
(1948) 32 Cal 2d 247, 196 P2d 10, 1948 Cal LEXIS 221. 

An attorney is not guilty of having intentionally misled the superior court by not expressly revealing to it that the 
money in his safe belonged to a guardianship estate where he was never directly asked whether such money was his 
money or guardianship money. Clark v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Misleading judge constitutes "act involving moral turpitude." Grove v. State Bar of California (1965) 63 Cal 2d 
312, 46 Cal Rptr 513, 405 P2d 553, 1965 Cal LEXIS 187. 
  
 9. Misconduct Toward Court - False or Misleading Pleadings or Documents  

An attorney was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude and dishonesty where at the time he prepared and filed 
a complaint for a woman client in a personal injury action, he knew that an allegation as to a named man being the 
plaintiff's husband was not true and that the purported husband was the husband of another woman whose divorce ac-
tion was then pending. Pickering v. State Bar of California (1944) 24 Cal 2d 141, 148 P2d 1, 1944 Cal LEXIS 221. 

Evidence sustains conclusion of Board of Governors of State Bar that an attorney failed to include a designated sum 
in his guardianship accounting to the court and that such omission was intentional and wilful where the only reference 
by which such money could be traced is an entry under "accounts receivable," without giving the name of the debtor or 
debtors of the estate; the account fails to reveal that part of this money was in the attorney's possession and not depo-
sited in the bank; and the circumstances indicate that the entry was made to make the books balance and to conceal the 
fact that his gross negligence had caused him to lose track of a large sum of his ward's money. Clark v. State Bar of 
California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Attorney's conduct in withholding from court what knowledge he had concerning the execution of a will when he 
presented a petition alleging intestacy is not justified by the fact that he had no self-serving motive in withholding such 
information, but was primarily interested in getting his client, decedent's brother, appointed special administrator before 
a sister who had been named executrix in the will could obtain possession of the assets of the estate, because in prior 
litigation involving the estate of another sister, such brother, also appointed special administrator of such estate, had 
been unable to get possession of the assets due to their alleged wrongful appropriation by the sister first mentioned. 
McMahon v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 367, 246 P2d 931, 1952 Cal LEXIS 267. 

Charges of unprofessional conduct amounting to moral turpitude against an attorney and his suspension from prac-
tice of law for two years are sustained by evidence in disciplinary proceeding that accused attorney, while representing 
persons mentioned in annulment actions, prepared complaints so as falsely to allege promise of children before marriage 
and refusal to cohabit after marriage, and that, while there was a child or children as result of marriages involved, attor-
ney instructed spouses not to disclose child's existence and in other case prepared property settlement agreement men-
tioning children. Paonessa v. State Bar of California (1954) 43 Cal 2d 222, 272 P2d 510, 1954 Cal LEXIS 242. 

The suspension of petitioner from the practice of law in California for 60 days was justified by evidence that he 
prepared and filed his client's declaration in two divorce actions knowing that her answer to a question therein indicat-
ing that she had paid him no fees was false. Medoff v. State Bar of California (1969) 71 Cal 2d 535, 78 Cal Rptr 696, 
455 P2d 800, 1969 Cal LEXIS 271. 

Disbarment was appropriate discipline for an attorney, where he had fraudulently transformed an assignment of 
contract form into a confession of judgment and knowingly offered it as genuine, and had filed false involuntary bank-
ruptcy petitions, for the purpose of harassment and delay, where he advised clients to make their deposition testimony 
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unavailable, despite court orders, where he had made an unwarranted charge of bias and prejudice against all the supe-
rior court judges in a county and had prepared a declaration for a client containing offensive descriptions of opposing 
parties and counsel, where he had communicated with a judge in the absence of opposing counsel, concerning the merits 
of a contested action, and had given deliberately evasive deposition testimony and failed to answer proper questions, 
and where, though his asserted defense that his mental and emotional state was such that he was unable to use his inde-
pendent judgment and was under the influence of one of his clients, possibly explained his actions, it neither justified 
them nor exonerated him from bearing the responsibility for his professional misconduct. Snyder v. The State Bar 
(1976) 18 Cal 3d 286, 133 Cal Rptr 864, 555 P2d 1104, 1976 Cal LEXIS 353. 
  
 10. Misconduct Toward Court - False or Perjured Testimony  

Deliberate attempt by attorney to cause miscarriage of justice through perjured testimony is not light offense, and 
may justify penalty more severe than suspension for period of one year from practice of law. State Bar of California v. 
Jones (1929) 208 Cal 240, 280 P 964, 1929 Cal LEXIS 375. 

In a proceeding before the Disciplinary Board of the State Bar, the evidence sustained a finding of culpability for 
which discipline should be imposed on an attorney, where it appeared, even without consideration of challenged testi-
mony of a client, that the attorney testified falsely before the local administrative committee when he unequivocally 
denied ever having possession of his client's income tax return or having awareness or interest in a possible tax refund; 
knowingly giving false testimony on a material factual issue is a serious breach of basic standards of honesty as well as 
a violation of an attorney's oath of office and his duties as an attorney, and, affirmative representations made with intent 
to deceive, even though no harm results, are grounds for discipline. Barreiro v. State Bar of California (1970) 2 Cal 3d 
912, 88 Cal Rptr 192, 471 P2d 992, 1970 Cal LEXIS 317. 

Sufficient evidence supported findings as to an attorney's culpability where it appeared that his own explanations 
were false and inconsistent, that some of his testimony was inherently improbable, that he participated in an unlawful 
dishonest scheme for a client's benefit as well as for his own benefit and advantage in violation of his duty to another 
client, that he made false sworn statements with knowledge of their falsity at the time they were made, that he 
represented adverse interests without a timely and complete disclosure and consent based on full knowledge and under-
standing, participating in a fraudulent scheme to cut off certain liens of junior encumbrances, that he made false allega-
tions in sworn testimony, and that he repeated false statements and intended to deceive the court. Lee v. State Bar of 
California (1970) 2 Cal 3d 927, 88 Cal Rptr 361, 472 P2d 449, 1970 Cal LEXIS 318. 

An attorney's intentional disregard of a small claims judgment obtained against him by a client for nonreturn of 
unearned legal fees, and the attorney's subsequent perjury and subornation of perjury in disciplinary proceedings, con-
stituted moral turpitude and dishonesty within the meaning of B & P C § 6106 (acts of moral turpitude as grounds for 
suspension or disbarment). Garlow v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal 3d 689, 244 Cal Rptr 452, 749 P2d 1307, 1988 Cal 
LEXIS 76. 
  
 11. Misconduct Toward Court - Maligning Court   

An attorney at law was guilty of moral turpitude warranting his disbarment in publishing an article which in effect 
wantonly charged a judge of the superior court with knowingly misusing his judicial office for the purpose of bringing 
financial gain to a litigant, and the fact that the judge was at the time a candidate for reelection did not make the publi-
cation privileged. In re Humphrey (1917) 174 Cal 290, 163 P 60, 1917 Cal LEXIS 789. 

Charging a judge with undue control over juries, and intimating that the judge was biased in favor of powerful liti-
gants, when not justified by the facts, warranted disbarring an attorney who circulated such charges through the mails. 
In re Graves (1923, Cal App) 64 Cal App 176, 221 P 411, 1923 Cal App LEXIS 153. 

Disbarment was appropriate discipline for an attorney, where he had fraudulently transformed an assignment of 
contract form into a confession of judgment and knowingly offered it as genuine, and had filed false involuntary bank-
ruptcy petitions, for the purpose of harassment and delay, where he advised clients to make their deposition testimony 
unavailable, despite court orders, where he had made an unwarranted charge of bias and prejudice against all the supe-
rior court judges in a county and had prepared a declaration for a client containing offensive descriptions of opposing 
parties and counsel, where he had communicated with a judge in the absence of opposing counsel, concerning the merits 
of a contested action, and had given deliberately evasive deposition testimony and failed to answer proper questions, 
and where, though his asserted defense that his mental and emotional state was such that he was unable to use his inde-
pendent judgment and was under the influence of one of his clients, possibly explained his actions, it neither justified 
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them nor exonerated him from bearing the responsibility for his professional misconduct. Snyder v. The State Bar 
(1976) 18 Cal 3d 286, 133 Cal Rptr 864, 555 P2d 1104, 1976 Cal LEXIS 353. 
  
 12. Misconduct Toward Court - Interference With Jury or Jury Selection  

Prosecutor's ex parte tampering with the selection of potential jurors to gain advantage at subsequent trials consti-
tuted calculated thwarting of objective justice. Noland v. State Bar of California (1965) 63 Cal 2d 298, 46 Cal Rptr 305, 
405 P2d 129, 1965 Cal LEXIS 185. 

Prosecutor's elimination from list of prospective jurors of "pro-defense" jurors to "improve the jury system" cannot 
be condoned. Noland v. State Bar of California (1965) 63 Cal 2d 298, 46 Cal Rptr 305, 405 P2d 129, 1965 Cal LEXIS 
185. 

Juries are not to be hand-picked by prosecutors so that jurors may merely ratify indictments and informations with 
guilty verdicts; and though attorney's good faith is factor to consider in determining whether discipline should be im-
posed for misconduct, prosecutor's assertion of good faith in counseling removal of "pro-defense" jurors from master 
jury list must be weighed in context of potential damage to jury system. Noland v. State Bar of California (1965) 63 Cal 
2d 298, 46 Cal Rptr 305, 405 P2d 129, 1965 Cal LEXIS 185. 

Even if court clerk assumed initiative in editing master jury list, prosecutor, as member of bar, was wholly unjusti-
fied in taking advantage of clerk's eagerness or willingness to commit unauthorized act; prosecutor had duty to advise 
clerk against proposed project, and no mitigation of attorney's misconduct in counseling and aiding unauthorized re-
moval of "pro-defense" jurors from official list could be found in fact that clerk was compiling mere unofficial list. 
Noland v. State Bar of California (1965) 63 Cal 2d 298, 46 Cal Rptr 305, 405 P2d 129, 1965 Cal LEXIS 185. 
  
 13. Misconduct Toward Client - Generally  

Where an attorney persisted in continuing litigation without real merit contrary to the instructions of his clients, his 
disbarment was warranted. Johnson v. State Bar of California (1935) 4 Cal 2d 744, 52 P2d 928, 1935 Cal LEXIS 610. 

Where an attorney was paid money by a client to pay to a third person, for services rendered by the third person to 
his client, and the attorney instead of paying the money offset it against debts owed him by the third person under a 
working agreement with that third person, his action, while not approved practice, is not conduct involving moral turpi-
tude. Russill v. State Bar of California (1941) 18 Cal 2d 321, 115 P2d 464, 1941 Cal LEXIS 366. 

An attorney is not guilty under this section where he engages in speculative business transactions and merely pro-
cures loans from a former client by promising more profit on the ventures than a prudent investor would expect. Wallis 
v. State Bar of California (1942) 21 Cal 2d 322, 131 P2d 531, 1942 Cal LEXIS 453. 

An attorney who levied execution on his client's note and trust deed, and had them sold without notice to her, when 
the client had demanded an accounting from him after accusing him of wrongdoing, was guilty of moral turpitude, even 
though the court had given him a lien on the note and trust deed after refusing to confirm an assignment of the same to 
him from his client-executrix. Fall v. State Bar of California (1944) 25 Cal 2d 149, 153 P2d 1, 1944 Cal LEXIS 304. 

An attorney was not guilty of fraudulent conduct involving moral turpitude in executing for a client a note and 
chattel mortgage naming the attorney's secretary as payee and mortgagee, despite the attorney's knowledge of his 
client's indebtedness to another, where the evidence showed that an indebtedness existed in the attorney's favor in the 
amount of the note and mortgage and that the secretary represented him in the transaction. Shaeffer v. State Bar of Cali-
fornia (1945) 26 Cal 2d 739, 160 P2d 825, 1945 Cal LEXIS 189. 

An attorney who had befriended a penniless client by supplying her with money for the necessities of life, pending 
her divorce action, and who, on her death, was mistaken in asserting a right to withhold part of a trust fund in his pos-
session as an offset to his personal claim for the amounts advanced, was not guilty of moral turpitude, where the mis-
take appeared to have been one of poor judgment as to the law and the proper procedure to protect his rights, and where 
he had acted openly and in good faith in asserting the claim. Butts v. State Bar of California (1948) 31 Cal 2d 453, 189 
P2d 1, 1948 Cal LEXIS 326. 

An attorney commits an act involving moral turpitude where he knowingly advises his client to make a conveyance 
in fraud of creditors. Townsend v. State Bar of California (1948) 32 Cal 2d 592, 197 P2d 326, 1948 Cal LEXIS 251. 
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An attorney was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude and dishonesty, where, while acting as attorney for an 
estate and the widow-administratrix, he obtained loans on certain properties and caused a part of them to be sold to an 
association, formed and owned by him and his family, without the authorization of the court and without the widow's 
knowledge and consent, and although he believed the estate had at least a contingent interest in the properties, he per-
mitted the estate to be closed without taking any action to ascertain the widow's interest until some years later, and after 
the association had acquired the properties without paying any consideration therefor, he caused them to be sold without 
the widow's knowledge and consent, and neither he nor the association accounted to the widow for the proceeds. Sun-
derlin v. The State Bar (1949) 33 Cal 2d 785, 205 P2d 382, 1949 Cal LEXIS 241. 

The suspension of an attorney for nine months is warranted by the moral turpitude of his unauthorized dismissal of 
a will contest and subsequent misrepresentations as to the pendency of the hearing until after the opportunity to contest 
the will had passed, though his clients may have suffered no loss through such misconduct. Foote v. State Bar of Cali-
fornia (1951) 37 Cal 2d 127, 230 P2d 617, 1951 Cal LEXIS 268. 

Findings that attorney's conduct involved moral turpitude, dishonesty, and corruption within meaning of B & P C § 
6106, warranting disbarment, were supported by evidence that he accepted from his client's sister mink stole, which was 
given in payment of his fee and in return for his promise to pay installments on judgment entered against client, that he 
did not pay, and that, though he claimed business failure caused his inability to pay, he knew about business failure be-
fore agreeing to pay. Lefner v. State Bar of California (1966) 64 Cal 2d 189, 49 Cal Rptr 296, 410 P2d 832, 1966 Cal 
LEXIS 247. 

Discipline of an attorney by a one-month suspension from practice was fully justified, where the record showed that 
his professional misconduct continued for a period of more than five years, from the time a client retained him to 
represent her in a domestic relations matter until he finally secured a judgment of dissolution of her marriage, where his 
conduct during that period evidenced a total disregard for the needs of his client, despite her frequent attempts to com-
municate with him and despite the State Bar's intervention on her behalf, where his conduct resulted in actual prejudice 
to his client and her second husband, who married in reliance upon his secretary's false representation that it was proper 
to do so, and where the attorney had been involved in a prior disciplinary proceeding. Spindell v. State Bar of California 
(1975) 13 Cal 3d 253, 118 Cal Rptr 480, 530 P2d 168, 1975 Cal LEXIS 169, 80 ALR3d 1231. 

Habitual disregard by an attorney of his clients' interests is ground for disbarment under B & P C §§ 6103, 6106. 
Schullman v. State Bar of California (1976) 16 Cal 3d 631, 128 Cal Rptr 671, 547 P2d 447, 1976 Cal LEXIS 244. 

Serious misconduct exists if an attorney wilfully fails to perform the legal services for which the attorney is re-
tained and paid; wilfully fails to communicate with the client; or knowingly misrepresents to a client the status of the 
client's case. Habitual neglect of client interests, constituting wilful or grossly negligent conduct, involves moral turpi-
tude under B & P C § 6106. Martin v. The State Bar (1978) 20 Cal 3d 717, 144 Cal Rptr 214, 575 P2d 757, 1978 Cal 
LEXIS 198. 

The record on appeal of a disciplinary proceeding against an attorney supported the finding of the Disciplinary 
Board of the State Bar that he violated B & P C §§ 6067 and 6068, relating to his oath and duties as an attorney, and 
that he committed acts involving moral turpitude in violation of B & P C § 6106. The record indicated that with respect 
to one client, the attorney overzealously assessed the merits of the case, reached without the benefit of an independent 
investigation, and that he took a $5000 advance fee payment for the case. Also, he subsequently failed to inform this 
client when he changed his opinion of the case, failed to even meet with his client when requested, and failed to return 
the fee until one week prior to the disciplinary hearing. Also, the attorney borrowed money from a second client, failing 
to fill out a form listing his assets and liabilities when requested to do so. He also failed to explain to this client other 
less dangerous and more profitable ways of investing her money, and failed to make more than two payments on the 
loan until one week prior to the disciplinary hearing. Baranowski v. The State Bar (1979) 24 Cal 3d 153, 154 Cal Rptr 
752, 593 P2d 613, 1979 Cal LEXIS 248. 

Where an attorney represented a client in the incorporation of the client's company, later represented the client in a 
personal injury action, then recommended that the client invest some of the litigation proceeds in a business venture in 
which the attorney was a principal and obtained loans from the client, the attorney was placed on probation and sus-
pended from the practice of law for two years because the attorney-client privilege still existed, the attorney violated his 
duties to his client, he entered into a business deal with his client, and concealed material facts about the business trans-
action. Beery v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal 3d 802, 239 Cal Rptr 121, 739 P2d 1289, 1987 Cal LEXIS 399. 
  
 14. Misconduct Toward Client - Assumption or Representation of Adverse or Conflicting Interests  
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Where attorney represented both unmarried girl seeking adoption of her child and couple who later adopted child, 
his act, after girl sought to revoke her consent to such adoption, in tape recording her telephone conversations, without 
her knowledge at time, and disclosing contents to adverse parties and threatening and attempting to use recording ad-
versely to her interests, constituted violation of this section. Arden v. State Bar (1959) 52 Cal 2d 310, 341 P2d 6, 1959 
Cal LEXIS 205. 

Mere fact that attorney did not violate Prof Cond Rules, rule 4 [repealed], prohibiting acquisition of interest adverse 
to client, or rule 8 [repealed], prohibiting purchase of property at judicial sale in proceeding in which attorney appears 
for party, does not exonerate him from discipline for wilfully exercising owner's dominion and control over property in 
manner adverse to interest of his client. Marlowe v. State Bar of California (1965) 63 Cal 2d 304, 46 Cal Rptr 326, 405 
P2d 150, 1965 Cal LEXIS 186. 

Attorney cannot hide behind community property laws, which would establish his wife's separate interest in prop-
erty, to avoid obligation to his client with respect to property acquired by attorney's spouse at judicial sale in proceeding 
in which attorney appeared for party. Marlowe v. State Bar of California (1965) 63 Cal 2d 304, 46 Cal Rptr 326, 405 
P2d 150, 1965 Cal LEXIS 186. 

The mere fact that the balance in an attorney's trust account has fallen below the total of amounts deposited in it and 
purportedly held in trust, supports a conclusion of misappropriation, which is a serious violation of professional ethics 
likely to undermine the public confidence in the legal profession. Giovanazzi v. The State Bar (1980) 28 Cal 3d 465, 
169 Cal Rptr 581, 619 P2d 1005, 1980 Cal LEXIS 230. 

Attorney's representation of multiple criminal defendants without investigating or declaring conflicts constituted 
acts of moral turpitude and warranted a public reprimand of the attorney. Gendron v. State Bar (1983) 35 Cal 3d 409, 
197 Cal Rptr 590, 673 P2d 260, 1983 Cal LEXIS 275. 
  
 15. Misconduct Toward Client - Undue Influence  

Attorney who by undue influence obtains a gift from client inter vivos or in will is guilty of act involving moral 
turpitude. Magee v. State Bar of California (1962) 58 Cal 2d 423, 24 Cal Rptr 839, 374 P2d 807, 1962 Cal LEXIS 268. 

An attorney's misconduct involved moral turpitude and warranted his disbarment even without consideration of his 
prior record, where the attorney had used undue influence to acquire a valuable asset from an aged and ultimately help-
less client, who relied on him, had misled the probate court to prevent its scrutiny of the transaction, had wilfully, by 
maintaining his client in inadequate surroundings and failing to provide her the care she needed, breached the agreement 
he had made to induce her to transfer the property, and inferentially had never intended to carry out all of his promises 
to her. Eschwig v. State Bar of California (1969) 1 Cal 3d 8, 81 Cal Rptr 352, 459 P2d 904, 1969 Cal LEXIS 188, 35 
ALR3d 662. 

Findings in a disciplinary proceeding, indicating that as a result of the attorney's moral turpitude and abuse of the 
trust and confidence placed in him by a client in connection with certain real estate transactions, the attorney gained a 
monetary advantage and the client lost a business opportunity and a substantial sum of money, called for discipline un-
der which the attorney is suspended from practice for five years, with execution of the suspension being stayed for such 
period during which he is placed on probation on conditions that he be suspended for the first year, that he refund the 
lost sum of money within the year, that if he does not do so and furnish satisfactory evidence of payment, the one-year 
period of suspension will be extended until such payment is made and evidence thereof furnished, but in no event to 
exceed five years. Glickman v. State Bar of California (1973) 9 Cal 3d 179, 107 Cal Rptr 65, 507 P2d 953, 1973 Cal 
LEXIS 183. 
  
 16. Misconduct Toward Client - Misappropriation of Funds  

An attorney who uses a client's money for his own purposes is guilty of moral depravity warranting disbarment. In 
re Treadwell (1885) 67 Cal 353, 7 P 724, 1885 Cal LEXIS 642; Bar Asso. of San Francisco v. Cantrell (1920, Cal App) 
49 Cal App 468, 193 P 598, 1920 Cal App LEXIS 255. 

Where an attorney has mingled his client's money with his own, and has used it for his own purposes, even though 
settlements are thereafter made with his clients, particularly pending investigations concerning his acts, such conduct 
involves moral turpitude. Bar Asso. of San Francisco v. Cantrell (1920, Cal App) 49 Cal App 468, 193 P 598, 1920 Cal 
App LEXIS 255. 
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An attorney was properly disbarred where he extorted money from his clients by representing to them in one in-
stance that added money was needed to get control of the jury, and in the other, that added money was needed to file an 
appeal, and in the latter case he failed to file an appeal. In re Morganstern (1923, Cal App) 61 Cal App 702, 215 P 721, 
1923 Cal App LEXIS 604. 

Where an attorney commingled funds of his clients and used them to settle demands against him from other clients, 
neither the fact that the parties involved had received every cent to which they were entitled, nor the attorney's domestic 
or other private embarrassments, absolved him from discipline, though such might be accepted in mitigation. Ring v. 
State Bar of California (1933) 218 Cal 747, 24 P2d 821, 1933 Cal LEXIS 574. 

An attorney was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude where he failed to pay certain doctor's and nurse and 
hospital bills which he had agreed to take care of out of his share of moneys received in the settlement of a claim of a 
client, and where he converted the funds of three other clients to his own use. Wilcox v. State Bar of California (1935) 2 
Cal 2d 614, 42 P2d 631, 1935 Cal LEXIS 369. 

An attorney who collected money in settlement of a dispute for his client, and failed for a period of five months, 
until warned by the client, to repay the amount due, was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Irons v. State Bar 
of California (1938) 11 Cal 2d 14, 77 P2d 221, 1938 Cal LEXIS 262. 

An attorney was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude in accepting and expending $300, without any ac-
counting, under a fraudulent representation that he would organize a corporation to operate a ranch owned by clients, 
who advanced the money under the belief that it covered part of the cost of organizing the corporation. Methever v. 
State Bar of California (1938) 12 Cal 2d 230, 82 P2d 1109, 1938 Cal LEXIS 385. 

An attorney was guilty of a violation of this statute where he converted a client's property to his own use and mi-
srepresented the true facts regarding the disposition thereof, in breach of the fiduciary relationship. Flaherty v. State Bar 
of California (1940) 16 Cal 2d 483, 106 P2d 617, 1940 Cal LEXIS 325. 

An attorney was guilty under this section where he misappropriated money paid to him by a client for the payment 
of insurance premiums. Prime v. State Bar of California (1941) 18 Cal 2d 56, 112 P2d 881, 1941 Cal LEXIS 331. 

An attorney who commingled his client's funds with his own, and spent them to impress a prospective client, was 
guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Pearlin v. State Bar of California (1941) 18 Cal 2d 682, 117 P2d 341, 1941 
Cal LEXIS 410. 

An attorney who accepts money from a client for the purpose of quieting title after receiving a statement of facts 
from the client showing that she had no cause of action, who fails to return the money to her, and who then neglects to 
appear at the trial of quiet title action is guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Herron v. State Bar of California 
(1944) 24 Cal 2d 53, 147 P2d 543, 1944 Cal LEXIS 211, cert den (1944) 65 S Ct 82, 89 L Ed 603, 323 US 753, 1944 US 
LEXIS 286, rehearing denied (1944) 323 U.S. 815, 65 S. Ct. 128, 89 L. Ed. 648, 1944 U.S. LEXIS 144. 

An attorney was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude where he failed to purchase a bail bond for his client 
convicted of a crime, after he had falsely told his client's wife that bail had been set and she had paid him money to 
purchase the bond, and where he failed to return the money until another attorney had been employed to recover it. 
Griffith v. State Bar of California (1945) 26 Cal 2d 273, 158 P2d 1, 1945 Cal LEXIS 153. 

The Supreme Court adopted the recommendation of the Board of Governors of the State Bar to suspend an attorney 
for three years where evidence sustained findings showing conduct involving moral turpitude in that, among other 
things, he misrepresented the status of cases to clients, converted their money, commingled their funds with his own, 
and issued checks which he knew would be dishonored. Alkow v. State Bar of California (1952) 38 Cal 2d 257, 239 P2d 
871, 1952 Cal LEXIS 169. 

When a client's money is kept apart from that of his attorney, Prof Cond Rules, former rule 9 (33 C2d 30), declar-
ing that a member of the State Bar shall not commingle the money or property of a client with his own, is not violated. 
Clark v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Rule against commingling of a client's money with an attorney's own money was adopted to provide against the 
danger that such commingling will result in loss of the client's money; moral turpitude is not necessarily involved. Clark 
v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 
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Commingling of trust and individual funds is committed when a client's money is intermingled with that of his at-
torney and its separate identity lost so that it may be used for the attorney's personal expenses or subjected to claims of 
his creditors. Clark v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Attorney is guilty of violation of Prof Cond Rules, Rule 9 [repealed], requiring member of bar not to commingle 
money or other property of client with his own and promptly to report to client receipt by him of all property belonging 
to client, where, though there is no evidence that attorney used proceeds of check, representing amount of judgment 
recovered by his client, his client was not informed of either judgment or of loss of such money for two and a half 
months. Browne v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 165, 287 P2d 745, 1955 Cal LEXIS 307. 

Findings of board in disciplinary proceeding that accused attorney commingled trust funds both with personal funds 
and with trust funds of other clients and that he wilfully appropriated his client's funds to his own use are sustained by 
evidence showing, among other things, that he did not notify his client that settlement had been made with respect to 
personal injury action, that he delayed unreasonably in turning over settlement moneys to his client, and that he allowed 
his wife to make use of funds for their personal purposes. Burns v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 296, 288 
P2d 514, 1955 Cal LEXIS 319. 

Misappropriation of funds entrusted to an attorney at law is gross violation of general morality as well as profes-
sional ethics, is likely to endanger confidence of public in the legal profession and deserves severe punishment; hence 
where record, in proceeding to review Board of Bar Governors' recommendation that accused attorney be suspended 
from practice of law for five years, disclosed callous and brazen indifference to obligations of attorney and course of 
conduct of deliberate commingling and appropriation of clients' funds to attorney's own use, Supreme Court ordered 
that he be disbarred and his name stricken from roll of attorneys. Sturr v. State Bar of California (1959) 52 Cal 2d 125, 
338 P2d 897, 1959 Cal LEXIS 190. 

Findings that petitioner violated his oath and duties as attorney were sustained by evidence that in numerous trans-
actions petitioner placed his clients' funds in his own personal bank account and appropriated all or a part of such funds 
to his own use, that he communicated with a party represented by counsel without the counsel's consent, and that he 
caused a three-page affidavit containing false statements to be attached to a fourth page containing signature of a party 
without displaying to such party the three pages containing the false statements. Sturr v. State Bar of California (1959) 
52 Cal 2d 125, 338 P2d 897, 1959 Cal LEXIS 190. 

Attorney's conduct on three different occasions in depositing proceeds of checks, received in handling client's 
funds, in his personal account instead of a trust account, which he never established, and in giving client checks on his 
personal account which were repeatedly dishonored for lack of sufficient funds constituted commission of acts involv-
ing moral turpitude. Resner v. State Bar of California (1960) 53 Cal 2d 605, 2 Cal Rptr 461, 349 P2d 67, 1960 Cal 
LEXIS 238. 

Misappropriation of funds entrusted to attorney is gross violation of general morality as well as professional ethics, 
is likely to endanger confidence of public in legal profession and deserves severe punishment; penalty of disbarment 
was not too severe where this was recommended by local administrative committee after each of two hearings before it, 
as well as by majority of Board of Bar Governors, and attorney pointed to no particular mitigating circumstances. 
Dreyfus v. State Bar of California (1960) 54 Cal 2d 799, 8 Cal Rptr 469, 356 P2d 213, 1960 Cal LEXIS 212. 

Attorney representing both injured party and insurance carrier in automobile accident case violated Prof Cond 
Rules, Rule 9 [repealed], requiring member of State Bar to promptly report to client his receipt of money or other prop-
erty belonging to client, where after judgment was entered for injured party and check in satisfaction of judgment paya-
ble to injured party and attorney's law firm, from proceeds of which insurance carrier was entitled to part, was indorsed 
by attorney on behalf of firm and clerk, instructed by attorney to have injured party sign it, gave check to injured party, 
who negotiated it and kept entire proceeds himself, and attorney failed for over eight months, though repeated inquiry 
was made on behalf of insurance carrier, to report receipt of check or disclose what became of it. Monroe v. State Bar of 
California (1961) 55 Cal 2d 145, 10 Cal Rptr 257, 358 P2d 529, 1961 Cal LEXIS 195. 

Recommendation of Board of Governors of State Bar that attorney be disbarred was supported by evidence that at-
torney was engaged to bring action to foreclose mortgage, that he received from debtor six checks, five of which were 
made payable to client's order, that attorney signed client's name to five checks, deposited them in attorney's personal 
account and converted them to his own use, that sixth check, made payable to attorney for client's account, was depo-
sited in attorney's personal bank account which was thereafter reduced to less than amount of check, and that attorney's 



Page 19 
Cal Bus & Prof Code § 6106  

misconduct was repetition of same type of conduct for which he had been previously disbarred. Pearlin v. State Bar of 
California (1963) 59 Cal 2d 834, 31 Cal Rptr 478, 382 P2d 598, 1963 Cal LEXIS 214. 

Attorney failed to sustain burden of showing that findings of his wilful mishandling of trust funds were unsup-
ported and that recommendation for his three-month suspension from practice was improper where, though he claimed 
his client had negotiated directly with insurer for its share of any amount recovered on personal injury claim and had 
instructed attorney not to pay insurer but to pay other debts of client, record revealed that attorney negotiated with and 
confirmed to insurer understanding as to its share of recovery, that settlement draft for claim was made payable to 
client, attorney and insurer, and that attorney obtained endorsements from them, deposited draft proceeds in trust ac-
count, and gave to insurer for its share check that was returned for insufficient funds. Johnstone v. State Bar of Califor-
nia (1966) 64 Cal 2d 153, 49 Cal Rptr 97, 410 P2d 617, 1966 Cal LEXIS 243. 

An attorney must have known his clients had not received their share of proceeds from an insurer's settlement, yet 
failed to inform them of his receipt of the proceeds and his explanation that the insurer's settlement draft was "cashed" 
for his brother who received the proceeds was not persuasive where the explanation was based on the unlikely proposi-
tion that a business woman "cashed" a draft for a third person, not named as a payee, in return for nothing more than the 
named payee's unwritten agreement of reimbursement and where the attorney never explained why his name, not his 
brother's, appeared as attorney of record and as payee of the settlement draft, offered no corroborating evidence, and 
said he was not sure his brother would testify if he appeared under subpoena. Simmons v. State Bar of California (1966) 
65 Cal 2d 281, 54 Cal Rptr 97, 419 P2d 161, 1966 Cal LEXIS 197. 

Misappropriation of funds entrusted to an attorney is a gross violation of general morality and professional ethics 
and is likely to endanger public confidence in the legal profession. An attorney who misappropriates funds deserves 
severe punishment. In re Urias (1966) 65 Cal 2d 258, 53 Cal Rptr 881, 418 P2d 849, 1966 Cal LEXIS 195. 

Where an attorney is convicted of grand theft based on misappropriation of funds entrusted to him, the crime is an 
offense involving moral turpitude and clearly warrants disbarment absent extenuating circumstances. In re Urias (1966) 
65 Cal 2d 258, 53 Cal Rptr 881, 418 P2d 849, 1966 Cal LEXIS 195. 

In a disciplinary hearing before the State Bar, an attorney was properly put on probation for three years, with actual 
suspension for the first two years, where his misappropriation of over $20,000 held in trust for a client was shown by 
overwhelming evidence, including proof that despite frequent inquiries from his client he failed to report receiving, in 
June, a fire insurance settlement check for over $30,000, payable to his client and himself, until his client told him, in 
October, that the insurance company itself had notified him of the payment, that he then misrepresented that he had 
made payments to three of his client's creditors, that he could not produce records to justify withdrawals from the trustee 
account, and that he failed to produce the settlement proceeds on demand; where, furthermore, his assertion that he had 
withdrawn $12,000 to hold in cash for the benefit of his client's creditors, whose persistent demands for payment he in 
fact refused, was shown to be false, and where his claimed entitlement to legal fees of $15,000 was a matter of dispute, 
since by written agreement the only fees were those due to him in his incidental business capacity as fire adjuster, 
amounting to only $3,600. Most v. State Bar of California (1967) 67 Cal 2d 589, 63 Cal Rptr 265, 432 P2d 953, 1967 
Cal LEXIS 246. 

In disciplinary hearings before the State Bar, the conclusion was justified that an attorney had violated his oath and 
duties and had wilfully committed acts involving moral turpitude and dishonesty (B & P C §§ 6103, 6106), where it 
appeared that as a result of petitioner's series of fraudulent misrepresentations to clients who had retained him to collect 
on a promissory note secured by a second deed of trust in real property they had suffered great monetary loss, and that 
he had wilfully and fraudulently misappropriated funds that at his request had been paid to him on their behalf purpor-
tedly to cure a default on the first deed of trust or to pay foreclosure expenses in connection with the second deed. Mo-
nroe v. State Bar of California (1969) 70 Cal 2d 301, 74 Cal Rptr 733, 450 P2d 53, 1969 Cal LEXIS 334. 

Disbarment of petitioner was appropriate under evidence that he misappropriated his clients' funds, that he dis-
played a lack of candor before the local administrative committee of the State Bar, that he deceitfully attempted to fo-
restall investigation by antedating and fabricating a loan agreement with the clients as explanation for failure to render a 
proper accounting, and that he had recently been disciplined for similar misconduct. Sevin v. State Bar of California 
(1973) 8 Cal 3d 641, 105 Cal Rptr 513, 504 P2d 449, 1973 Cal LEXIS 242. 

Despite factors offered in mitigation and a willingness to make restitution, disbarment rather than suspension, was 
proper discipline for an attorney who, over a period of about four years, had engaged in a course of conduct showing a 
shocking readiness to place his own financial interests above the financial and personal interests of his clients, as dis-
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played by evidence that he converted clients' funds to his own use, leased his property to persons to whom he bore fidu-
ciary responsibilities without disclosing a pending foreclosure, and agreed to sell other property to other persons to 
whom he also bore such responsibilities without disclosing that it was subject to a deed of trust and that his note secured 
thereby was in default. Tomlinson v. State Bar of California (1975) 13 Cal 3d 567, 119 Cal Rptr 335, 531 P2d 1119, 
1975 Cal LEXIS 191. 

Disbarment was proper discipline for an attorney under evidence that he had appropriated, to his own use, funds 
received from clients for investment, that in successfully soliciting loans from a client, he had failed to reveal the extent 
of his preexisting indebtedness and financial distress, that he had made only token payments on the loans and had paid 
nothing on a fraud judgment arising out of the loan transactions, that in successfully soliciting a loan on his home from 
an attorney who was not his client, he had misled the lender with respect to preexisting encumbrances on the home, and 
that he had failed to repay this loan. Benson v. State Bar of California (1975) 13 Cal 3d 581, 119 Cal Rptr 297, 531 P2d 
1081, 1975 Cal LEXIS 192. 

Suspension for two years with execution of the order of suspension stayed and imposition of probation for that pe-
riod on conditions prescribed by the Board of Governors, including actual suspension for the first nine months was 
proper discipline for an attorney, under evidence that before he had been admitted to practice in this state, he had ob-
tained money from out-of-state law firms by fraudulent means for the purpose of personal gain. Stratmore v. State Bar 
of California (1975) 14 Cal 3d 887, 123 Cal Rptr 101, 538 P2d 229, 1975 Cal LEXIS 327, 92 ALR3d 803. 

The recommendation of the Disciplinary Board of the State Bar that an attorney be suspended from the practice of 
law for six months for violations of his oath and duties as an attorney under B & P C §§ 6067 and 6068, and for com-
mission of acts involving moral turpitude and dishonesty in violation of B & P C § 6106, was not excessive. The record 
indicated that the attorney had accepted advance fee payments from two different clients, did no work for the clients, 
and refunded the fees only one week prior to the disciplinary hearing. Also, as to one of the clients, he misrepresented 
the merits of the case apparently in order to obtain the large advance fee payment. Additionally, he sought and received 
loans from a third client and failed to make payments on the loans until one week prior to the disciplinary hearing. The 
fact that the attorney during this period encountered serious financial difficulties indicated that he should have been 
more careful, not less, with the handling of his clients' funds. His subsequent repayment of the money, standing alone, 
might have been a mitigating factor, but the fact that the repayments were made a week before the disciplinary hearing 
militated otherwise. Baranowski v. The State Bar (1979) 24 Cal 3d 153, 154 Cal Rptr 752, 593 P2d 613, 1979 Cal 
LEXIS 248. 

An attorney's conduct violated his oath and duties as an attorney and involved acts of moral turpitude, where the 
attorney, who had represented a client in recovering a $750,000 claim for personal injuries, negotiated a $100,000 loan 
from that client for purposes of making an investment, where the attorney did not advise the client that he should seek 
independent legal counsel, that the interest rate for the loan was usurious and could have legal consequences adverse to 
the client, or that the client should undertake particular action necessary to protect the client's security interest in prop-
erty offered by the attorney as collateral for the loan. Because an attorney is a fiduciary to his client, all dealings be-
tween them which are beneficial to the attorney must be closely scrutinized for unfairness, and when an attorney's con-
duct disregards this duty, severe discipline is warranted. Giovanazzi v. The State Bar (1980) 28 Cal 3d 465, 169 Cal 
Rptr 581, 619 P2d 1005, 1980 Cal LEXIS 230. 

Disbarment was the appropriate discipline for an attorney with a prior disciplinary record who was found guilty of 
five counts of willful commingling and misappropriation of clients' settlement funds, where the attorney asserted no 
mitigating factors whatever, where he expressed no remorse for his actions, which fell far short of the most minimal 
standards in his relations with several clients, and where he made no offer of restitution. Misappropriation of a client's 
settlement proceeds is a most grievous breach of professional ethics and morality, and such conduct is certain to endan-
ger the confidence of the public in the legal profession. The usual discipline imposed for such a breach is disbarment, in 
the absence of strong mitigating circumstances. Rogers v. The State Bar (1980) 28 Cal 3d 654, 170 Cal Rptr 482, 620 
P2d 1030, 1980 Cal LEXIS 242. 

Suspension from the practice of law for five years with probation for that period on conditions including six months 
actual suspension was the appropriate discipline for an attorney, rather than suspension and probation on the same con-
ditions without any actual suspension as recommended by the Disciplinary Board of the State Bar, where the attorney 
had misappropriated clients' funds, committed acts of forgery, improperly obtained unearned fees and collected uncons-
cionable fees, failed to forward files and documents to substitute counsel, and prejudiced his client by his unnoticed 
withdrawal. In light of the seriousness of such conduct, the period of actual suspension was necessary and proper de-
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spite mitigating factors of the attorney's alcoholism when the misconduct occurred, his subsequent refraining from in-
toxicants, his acknowledgement of wrongdoing, his cooperation throughout the disciplinary proceeding, and his contin-
ued efforts and progress in rehabilitation. His restitution in two matters was entitled to little weight since it was made 
pursuant to confrontation by his law partners in one matter and under pressure of the State Bar in the other. Moreover, 
the absence of a prior disciplinary record was expected and entitled to little weight as a mitigating factor, since the 
charged misconduct commenced less than three years after the attorney's admission to practice. Finch v. The State Bar 
(1981) 28 Cal 3d 659, 170 Cal Rptr 629, 621 P2d 253, 1981 Cal LEXIS 107. 

In a disciplinary proceeding against an attorney who, the State Bar Court Review Department found, had borrowed 
money from two clients without complying with the Rules of Professional Conduct and misappropriated funds of one of 
those clients from his trust account, the department erred in concluding that in making false and misleading statements 
to a client and misappropriating her money, the attorney committed acts of moral turpitude and violated B & P C § 6106 
(acts of moral turpitude or dishonesty constitute cause for disbarment or suspension). Nowhere in the notice to show 
cause was there any charge that the attorney either misappropriated the client's money or made false or misleading 
statements to her, and to find the attorney culpable based on uncharged misconduct would be a denial of due process. 
Further, the findings underlying this conclusion were not supported by the evidence. Lipson v. State Bar (1991) 53 Cal 
3d 1010, 281 Cal Rptr 775, 810 P2d 1007, 1991 Cal LEXIS 2234. 
  
 17. Misconduct Toward Client - Attorneys' Fees  

Since the charging of a fee wholly disproportionate to the services performed amounts to the receipt of money 
without performing services, such is a species of dishonesty. Goldstone v. State Bar of California (1931) 214 Cal 490, 6 
P2d 513, 1931 Cal LEXIS 458. 

Where an attorney charged $310 on an industrial accident award of $882.96 to a client of limited means for a most 
trivial service, he was guilty of flagrant overreaching, which amounted to misconduct. Goldstone v. State Bar of Cali-
fornia (1931) 214 Cal 490, 6 P2d 513, 1931 Cal LEXIS 458. 

Extorting a fee is a crime involving moral turpitude. Mauer v. State Bar of California (1933) 219 Cal 271, 26 P2d 
14, 1933 Cal LEXIS 385. 

Where an attorney receives a sum of money for the sole purpose of securing a bail bond for his client, he is guilty 
of conduct involving moral turpitude where he deducts his fee from such fund when unable to obtain such bail bond. 
Oster v. State Bar of California (1935) 2 Cal 2d 625, 42 P2d 627, 1935 Cal LEXIS 371, modified, rehearing denied 43 
P.2d 535. 

An attorney who intentionally contracts to undertake legal work for his clients and accepts fees therefor, with no 
intention of performing such services, is guilty of the most flagrant dishonesty. Glenn v. State Bar of California (1939) 
14 Cal 2d 318, 94 P2d 43, 1939 Cal LEXIS 340. 

Where an attorney, under a contingent fee basis, procured from his client an authorization for the attorney of the 
opposite party to use sums in excess of $5000 in settlement of certain of his own obligations, amounting to $1300, upon 
representing to her that he thought that they could be settled at a considerable discount, and where when the obligations 
were settled in full to his knowledge, he did not advise his client of the fact, and thus received in effect a double fee, he 
was guilty of dishonesty. Rohe v. State Bar of California (1941) 17 Cal 2d 445, 110 P2d 389, 1941 Cal LEXIS 275. 

An attorney who substitutes in a deed his own daughter's name for that of his client in order to secure his fee in a 
divorce action violates this section. Hinds v. State Bar of California (1941) 19 Cal 2d 87, 119 P2d 134, 1941 Cal LEXIS 
446. 

An attorney is dishonest within the meaning of this section where he institutes an action upon an obligation, which 
was in mitigation of a transaction wherein the client of the attorney had to all intents and purposes been accorded full 
relief, and the later action can be regarded in no other light than an attempt to retain a double recovery upon a single 
cause of action, with an additional attorney's fee in his favor. Bryant v. State Bar of California (1942) 21 Cal 2d 285, 
131 P2d 523, 1942 Cal LEXIS 450. 

Even without the intent to defraud, an attorney who withholds his client's funds in an attempt to force payment of a 
fee is guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. McGrath v. State Bar of California (1943) 21 Cal 2d 737, 135 P2d 1, 
1943 Cal LEXIS 304. 
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The crime of attempted extortion involves moral turpitude even though the money sought by the use of threats may 
have been justly due the attorney. Lindenbaum v. State Bar of California (1945) 26 Cal 2d 565, 160 P2d 9, 1945 Cal 
LEXIS 173. 

The evidence warranted a finding of conduct involving moral turpitude, where the attorney attempted to extort a fee 
by threats after the client had listed such fee in his petition for bankruptcy, and when the threats failed, he maliciously 
made false charges to the immigration authorities against the client's wife. Lindenbaum v. State Bar of California (1945) 
26 Cal 2d 565, 160 P2d 9, 1945 Cal LEXIS 173. 

An attorney-justice was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude where he filed a complaint in his own court in 
his own name and included attorney's fees in an action against former clients for legal services rendered. Christopher v. 
State Bar of California (1945) 26 Cal 2d 663, 161 P2d 1, 1945 Cal LEXIS 182. 

Attorney's conduct in demanding and receiving from special administrator fees for extraordinary services without a 
prior court order is not an infraction of the rules of professional conduct where a large portion of the money so paid to 
the attorney was in turn paid out by him to satisfy legitimate costs incurred in the interests of the estate and a pretermit-
ted heir, all payments out of the estate were made with the knowledge and consent of the pretermitted heir who even-
tually succeeded to the entire estate, the amount received by the attorney for his own use was not unreasonable com-
pensation for the amount of legal services rendered by him, he was advised by other attorneys that his demand and ac-
ceptance of such fees were legally proper, and other circumstances sustained an inference of good faith on his part. 
McMahon v. State Bar of California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 367, 246 P2d 931, 1952 Cal LEXIS 267. 

Where board in disciplinary proceedings against attorney dismissed one count against him and trial committee's 
finding thereon, on ground that contingent fee agreement between him and woman who employed him to clarify her 
marital status with man still married to another woman was not promotive of divorce and therefore not within type of 
contingent fee agreements prohibited by law, a substituted finding made by board that attorney was engaged to 
represent his client in domestic relation matter is not prejudicial to him. Coviello v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 
Cal 2d 57, 286 P2d 357, 1955 Cal LEXIS 293. 

Where attorney can conscientiously contend that he was entitled to retain fee he had received for services he had 
rendered, any dispute with respect to his liability to return all or part of such fee should be determined in civil action and 
not in disciplinary proceeding. Sullivan v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 778, 1955 Cal LEXIS 
300. 

Evidence is sufficient to show that attorney is guilty of professional misconduct in failing to return $350 fee paid 
him to secure release of client's friend from prison farm, where he did not secure such prisoner's release and he had 
promised to return money if such release was not secured by a certain date, and where, notwithstanding his expressed 
inability to locate client and his willingness to refund money to him at any time, client was in frequent communication 
with his office, and he could easily have arranged to discharge his obligation. Sullivan v. State Bar of California (1955) 
45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 778, 1955 Cal LEXIS 300. 

Evidence is sufficient to show that attorney is guilty of professional misconduct in failing to return $200 of his 
client's brother's money paid him to secure brother's release from jail, where this was not done, where attorney's own 
testimony indicates his recognition that he did not earn more than part of such fee, and where, instead of making rea-
sonable effort to settle matter with his client he ignored problem until action was brought against him and then permit-
ted default judgment to be entered. Sullivan v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 778, 1955 Cal 
LEXIS 300. 

Evidence is sufficient to show that attorney, who received $175 from representatives of organization for costs of 
filing action and for retainer fee, is guilty of professional misconduct and at least technically commingling of part of 
such sum advanced for filing costs where, after determining that contemplated legal action was not feasible, he failed to 
inform representatives of such fact, he made no effort to inform these persons of what he had done and why he had not 
filed an action, and where he should have arranged to make satisfactory explanation of services he had rendered for fee 
received instead of putting clients off by repeated promises to return money that were not fulfilled. Sullivan v. State Bar 
of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 778, 1955 Cal LEXIS 300. 

Evidence is insufficient to show that attorney was guilty of professional misconduct in not voluntarily refunding 
any part of $200 fee paid him to prosecute civil action where he filed complaint and made investigation, where there is 
no finding that he did not fully discharge his duty to his client until his client informed him that he wanted to get anoth-
er attorney, and where there is no evidence to indicate that $200 was not a fair fee for work the attorney did before he 
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was in effect discharged, and where no request is made by client for adjustment of fee. Sullivan v. State Bar of Califor-
nia (1955) 45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 778, 1955 Cal LEXIS 300. 

Evidence is insufficient to show that attorney is guilty of professional misconduct in not refunding $125 paid to him 
to prosecute civil action on behalf of his client's minor son for injuries he suffered at hands of police officer, although 
no action was filed against either officer or city, where attorney investigated case and determined that civil action would 
be fruitless, where he so informed his client and she was satisfied with his efforts toward securing $400 for her injured 
son as condition of probation at time of officer's conviction of criminal charges growing out of his attack on client's son 
and where probation report corroborates attorney's testimony that civil judgment could not be collected against police 
officer, and it is not contended that city was liable. Sullivan v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 
778, 1955 Cal LEXIS 300. 

An attorney seeking review of the recommendation of the disciplinary board of the State Bar failed to sustain his 
burden of showing that the evidence did not support the board's findings that he had been guilty as charged on five 
counts involving violation of his oath and duties as an attorney at law (B & P C §§ 6103, 6067, 6068) and acts involving 
moral turpitude, dishonesty, and corruption (B & P C § 6106), where his unsupported claims and his own admissions, 
revealing a lack of comprehension regarding his duties to his clients, only emphasized his disregard of his clients' inter-
ests, and where the record disclosed a pattern of misconduct that included demands for fees in advance for his agree-
ment to perform services that were never performed, repeated misrepresentations that he was diligently working there-
on, and then retention of the fees without ever doing the work to earn them. Alkow v. State Bar of California (1971) 3 
Cal 3d 924, 92 Cal Rptr 278, 479 P2d 638, 1971 Cal LEXIS 383. 

The State Bar Disciplinary Board's finding that the attorney who was the subject of disciplinary proceedings wil-
fully and wrongfully attempted to use criminal proceedings in order to collect a legal fee in a civil matter was supported 
by evidence that he had told his client's husband's attorneys that he would "drop" criminal assault and battery charges he 
had preferred against him if he would pay fees allegedly owed to the attorney for representing the wife in divorce pro-
ceedings before the couple reconciled. Bluestein v. State Bar of California (1974) 13 Cal 3d 162, 118 Cal Rptr 175, 529 
P2d 599, 1974 Cal LEXIS 201, 91 ALR3d 570. 

An attorney who, retained by a husband in dissolution proceedings, undertook the collection of community assets 
and deposited the cash funds in his client trust account, breached his fiduciary duty to the wife by paying to himself, 
before execution of the settlement agreement and without the wife's consent, more than the fees agreed upon with op-
posing counsel, and misrepresented to opposing counsel the amount of such disbursements. In conjunction with other 
instances of misconduct, such acts, involving moral turpitude within the meaning of B & P C § 6106, justified discipli-
nary action against him. Codiga v. The State Bar (1978) 20 Cal 3d 788, 144 Cal Rptr 404, 575 P2d 1186, 1978 Cal 
LEXIS 201. 

An attorney's intentional disregard of a small claims judgment obtained against him by a client for nonreturn of 
unearned legal fees, and the attorney's subsequent perjury and subornation of perjury in disciplinary proceedings, con-
stituted moral turpitude and dishonesty within the meaning of B & P C § 6106 (acts of moral turpitude as grounds for 
suspension or disbarment). Garlow v. State Bar (1988) 44 Cal 3d 689, 244 Cal Rptr 452, 749 P2d 1307, 1988 Cal 
LEXIS 76. 
  
 18. Delay; Failure to Act  

An attorney who was paid a fee to secure a divorce for a client but negligently failed to do so, and even after dis-
covering the mistake failed to file a complaint, and did not do so until after a complaint had been made to the bar asso-
ciation, was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Waterman v. State Bar of California (1936) 8 Cal 2d 17, 63 
P2d 1133, 1936 Cal LEXIS 715. 

An attorney who falsely represented to his client that the trial of her case would soon be coming up, when in fact he 
had never filed the action, and who, in a second case, assured a client that the case had been set for trial, when in fact a 
change of venue had been granted, was guilty of acts involving moral turpitude under this section. Stephens v. State Bar 
of California (1942) 19 Cal 2d 580, 122 P2d 549, 1942 Cal LEXIS 393. 

An attorney who long delayed in having judgment entered in a malpractice action by his client, and represented to 
her that judgment had been entered, when in fact he knew that expert testimony would be needed by his client to sup-
port her damages, but instead bargained with, and aided, an unlicensed attorney from a legal research bureau in at-
tempting to secure a default judgment and execution in a malpractice action without expert testimony, and in conse-
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quence ended up doing nothing for his client, was guilty of conduct involving moral turpitude. Propp v. State Bar of 
California (1942) 20 Cal 2d 387, 125 P2d 825, 1942 Cal LEXIS 286. 

Where attorney mistakenly believed in good faith that he could file will contest on behalf of his client at any time 
before distribution of estate, and where, because of this mistake he failed to act in time, imposition of discipline is not 
warranted. Call v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 104, 287 P2d 761, 1955 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Suspension for three months is sufficient discipline for attorney who was grossly negligent in his dealings with his 
fees and in failing to inform clients of progress of their cases, where none of misconduct prejudiced any of clients' in-
terests, where his shortcoming was not in failing to perform service for his clients but only in neglecting properly to 
inform them what he had done and in failing to settle his accounts with them after his services had terminated, and 
where such misconduct was not result of dishonest motives, but result of poor health brought about in motives, but re-
sult of dishonest motives, but result of poor health brought about in part by tremendous case load undertaken. Sullivan 
v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 778, 1955 Cal LEXIS 300. 

In disciplinary proceedings against attorney, findings of Board of Governors in three separate matters that attorney 
had been grossly negligent and that such gross negligence was course of conduct constituting moral turpitude were sus-
tained by evidence showing policy of performing paid services tardily or not at all, of refusal to respond to inquiries 
from clients, that when reached by phone, which was seldom, attorney's most frequent response was to promise to call 
at later specified time, which he did not do, and that in two matters clients were misled, one into believing that action 
had not come to trial because it had not made calendar, other into believing that valid judgment had been obtained. Rock 
v. State Bar of California (1962) 57 Cal 2d 639, 21 Cal Rptr 572, 371 P2d 308, 1962 Cal LEXIS 211, 96 ALR2d 818. 

Disbarment of an attorney was justified, where, with a record already blemished by a suspension for nonpayment of 
dues and a reprimand for misleading the court, he was found guilty by the State Bar of negligence or gross negligence in 
habitually failing to file documents for his clients and to appear at hearings, misleading them as to the status of their 
affairs, avoiding communications from them by telephone, in writing and in person, and of deliberate and wilful viola-
tion of his oath as an attorney in accepting fees without performing the services for which he was engaged, and where a 
psychiatric report, showing a long-standing history of compulsive neurosis, showed no grounds for excusing him from 
at least the minimum standards of professional conduct. Grove v. State Bar of California (1967) 66 Cal 2d 680, 58 Cal 
Rptr 564, 427 P2d 164, 1967 Cal LEXIS 332. 

An attorney's disbarment was warranted by evidence that disclosed a common pattern, in three matters investigated, 
of his acceptance of fees followed by the failure to communicate or directly deal with his clients regarding their cases, 
his refusal to respond to their inquires, his failure to advise that they should obtain other counsel or to give them any 
kind of notice to prevent defaults in two matters and a failure to prosecute in a third matter, that official court files 
showed his notice of the status of the cases but his failure to take steps to protect his clients, and that during his suspen-
sion he held himself out to opposing counsel and the courts as an attorney of record. Simmons v. State Bar of California 
(1970) 2 Cal 3d 719, 87 Cal Rptr 368, 470 P2d 352, 1970 Cal LEXIS 302. 

The evidence sustained a finding of culpability by an attorney, where it was shown that two clients suffered dis-
missal of their complaint against three defendants, that the attorney failed to pursue their complaint against a fourth and 
primary defendant in a matter in which the clients had suffered damages of almost $50,000, that three other clients suf-
fered a default judgment and the suspension of their driver's licenses and the wages of one of them were garnished, and 
that still another client suffered a default judgment and the garnishment of his wages. Simmons v. State Bar of Califor-
nia (1970) 2 Cal 3d 719, 87 Cal Rptr 368, 470 P2d 352, 1970 Cal LEXIS 302. 

Ample evidence supported the findings of the Disciplinary Board of the State Bar that an attorney was grossly neg-
ligent in the handling of matters entrusted to him by two of his clients, where he stipulated that one of them had retained 
his office to represent him in a personal injury matter which was dismissed for failure to serve summons within three 
years, where his lack of knowledge that a complaint had been filed in that matter by an employee in his office who was 
not authorized to practice law was attributable to his failure to properly supervise his staff, where, though dismissal of 
the personal injury complaint of the other client was due in part to misconduct by the attorney's secretary, the record 
showed that he knew the action was in danger of dismissal, that he failed to check the file when the client telephoned 
him regarding a trial date, and that he did nothing until the client again called him some months later, at which time he 
pulled the file and discovered the action had been dismissed. Sanchez v. The State Bar (1976) 18 Cal 3d 280, 133 Cal 
Rptr 768, 555 P2d 889, 1976 Cal LEXIS 352. 
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Disbarment of an attorney from the practice of law was appropriate discipline, where the evidence supported the 
findings of the Disciplinary Board of the State Bar that, in a criminal matter, the attorney had wilfully failed and refused 
to perform those services for which he had been retained, and that, in a civil matter, he had failed to use reasonable di-
ligence to accomplish the purposes of his employment, failed to return documents and advance fees to his former 
clients, and failed to communicate with them regarding the return of documents and fees, and where the attorney's prior 
record disclosed repeated violations of similar character within the preceding several years. Marcus v. The State Bar 
(1980) 27 Cal 3d 199, 165 Cal Rptr 121, 611 P2d 462, 1980 Cal LEXIS 173. 

Failure to communicate with and inattention to the needs of a client, standing alone, may constitute proper grounds 
for discipline of an attorney. McMorris v. The State Bar (1981) 29 Cal 3d 96, 171 Cal Rptr 829, 623 P2d 781, 1981 Cal 
LEXIS 128. 

Disbarment was appropriate discipline for an attorney who was shown to have repeatedly and habitually disre-
garded his clients' interests by willfully failing to perform services, misrepresenting the status of their cases, failing and 
refusing to communicate and failing to return unearned fees. Habitual disregard by an attorney of the interests of his 
client is ground for disbarment under B & P C §§ 6103 and 6106. Even when such neglect is grossly negligent or care-
less, rather than willful and dishonest, it is an act of moral turpitude and professional misconduct, justifying disbarment. 
The State Bar properly considered the attorney's prior disciplinary record, which evidenced a serious pattern of mis-
conduct, whereby the attorney willfully deceived his clients, avoided their efforts to communicate with him, and habi-
tually abandoned their causes. The combined record of the disciplinary proceeding and prior discipline showed not a 
series of aberrant or uncharacteristic acts, but rather a continuing course of serious professional misconduct extending 
over a period of several years. Farnham v. State Bar (1988) 47 Cal 3d 429, 253 Cal Rptr 249, 763 P2d 1339, 1988 Cal 
LEXIS 259. 
  
 19. Negligence  

Gross negligence and carelessness, coupled with misrepresentation to a client, in undertaking a client's case, can 
violate this statute. Marsh v. State Bar of California (1930) 210 Cal 303, 291 P 583, 1930 Cal LEXIS 385; Waterman v. 
State Bar of California (1936) 8 Cal 2d 17, 63 P2d 1133, 1936 Cal LEXIS 715; Stephens v. State Bar of California 
(1942) 19 Cal 2d 580, 122 P2d 549, 1942 Cal LEXIS 393. 

Although an attorney may properly place his ward's money in his safe for a short period of time to safeguard it until 
he has time to deposit it in a bank, when he keeps a large sum of his ward's money in his safe for over three years and 
loses track of its whereabouts, he is guilty of gross negligence in the handling of his ward's funds. Clark v. State Bar of 
California (1952) 39 Cal 2d 161, 246 P2d 1, 1952 Cal LEXIS 247. 

Such statements as that gross negligence by attorney involves moral turpitude in that such conduct is breach of his 
fiduciary duty must be read in the light of additional facts, such as misrepresentation or other improper action. Call v. 
State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 104, 287 P2d 761, 1955 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Negligence and gross negligence are not specified in this section and §§ 6067, 6103, and do not come within 
grounds stated unless conduct involves moral turpitude or amounts to violation of attorney's oath or of his duties as at-
torney. Call v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 104, 287 P2d 761, 1955 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Attorney may be disciplined for violation of his oath to discharge his duties to best of his knowledge and ability, 
but mere ignorance of law in conducting affairs of client in good faith is not cause for discipline. Call v. State Bar of 
California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 104, 287 P2d 761, 1955 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Good faith of attorney is matter to be considered in determining whether discipline should be imposed for acts done 
through ignorance or mistake. Call v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 104, 287 P2d 761, 1955 Cal LEXIS 299. 

Gross negligence is breach of fiduciary relationship that binds attorney to most conscientious fidelity to interests of 
client, and it warrants disciplinary action, since it is violation of his power to discharge his duty to best of his know-
ledge and ability. Sullivan v. State Bar of California (1955) 45 Cal 2d 112, 287 P2d 778, 1955 Cal LEXIS 300. 

Recommendation of Board of Governors of State Bar that attorney be suspended for two years was not excessive 
where evidence showed that he was grossly negligent in matters set forth in three counts, and that such gross negligence 
was course of conduct constituting moral turpitude. Rock v. State Bar of California (1962) 57 Cal 2d 639, 21 Cal Rptr 
572, 371 P2d 308, 1962 Cal LEXIS 211, 96 ALR2d 818. 
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Habitual disregard by an attorney of the interests of clients is ground for disbarment under B & P C §§ 6103, 6106. 
Even when such neglect is grossly negligent or careless, rather than wilful and dishonest, it is an act of moral turpitude 
and professional misconduct, justifying disbarment. Grove v. State Bar of California (1967) 66 Cal 2d 680, 58 Cal Rptr 
564, 427 P2d 164, 1967 Cal LEXIS 332. 

Gross carelessness and negligence by an attorney constitute a violation of his oath to discharge faithfully the duties 
of an attorney to the best of his knowledge and ability and involve moral turpitude, in that they are a breach of the fidu-
ciary relation that binds him to the most conscientious fidelity to his clients' interest. Simmons v. State Bar of California 
(1970) 2 Cal 3d 719, 87 Cal Rptr 368, 470 P2d 352, 1970 Cal LEXIS 302; Demain v. State Bar of California (1970) 3 
Cal 3d 381, 90 Cal Rptr 420, 475 P2d 652, 1970 Cal LEXIS 217. 

Habitual disregard by an attorney of the interests of clients is ground for disbarment under B & P C §§ 6103, 6106. 
Even when such neglect is grossly negligent or careless, rather than willful and dishonest, it is an act of moral turpitude 
and professional misconduct, justifying disbarment. Marcus v. The State Bar (1980) 27 Cal 3d 199, 165 Cal Rptr 121, 
611 P2d 462, 1980 Cal LEXIS 173. 

While the good faith of an attorney is a matter to consider in determining whether discipline should be imposed for 
acts done through ignorance or mistake, trust account deficiencies are attributable to attorneys, not to their employees. 
Moreover, gross carelessness and negligence constitute violations of the oath of an attorney to faithfully discharge his 
duties to the best of his knowledge and ability, and involve moral turpitude as they breach the fiduciary relationship 
owed to clients. Giovanazzi v. The State Bar (1980) 28 Cal 3d 465, 169 Cal Rptr 581, 619 P2d 1005, 1980 Cal LEXIS 
230. 

Gross carelessness and negligence constitute a violation of the oath of an attorney to discharge faithfully the duties 
of an attorney to the best of his knowledge and ability and involve moral turpitude, in that they are a breach of the fidu-
ciary relation which binds him to the most conscientious fidelity to his clients' interests. McMorris v. The State Bar 
(1981) 29 Cal 3d 96, 171 Cal Rptr 829, 623 P2d 781, 1981 Cal LEXIS 128. 
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